
Adult Commissioning Committee  
 

Dear Member, 
 

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Adult Commissioning Committee to be 
held as follows for the transaction of the business indicated. 
Tom Stannard 

Chief Executive  

 
DATE: Wednesday, 9 March 2022 

 
TIME:  2.00 pm 

 
VENUE: Microsoft Teams Meeting 

 
In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 

this meeting.  
 

AGENDA 

 
1   Apologies for Absence  

 

 

2   Declarations of Interest  

 

 

3   Draft Minutes of the Meeting Held on 12th January 2022  

 
(Pages 1 - 8) 

 ITEMS FOR DECISION  

 

 

4   Community Diagnostic Centre - Tom Regan  

 

(Pages 9 - 54) 

5   CURE Business Case (Post six months' evaluation) - Neil 

Cudby/Sam Mansfield  

 

(Pages 55 - 86) 

 ITEMS FOR ASSURANCE  

 

 

6   Finance Report - Elaine Vermeulen  

 

(Pages 87 - 92) 

7   Urgent & Emergency Care Update - Stephen Tilley  

 
(Pages 93 - 102) 

8   Public Health Commissioning - Muna Abdel-Aziz  

 
(Pages 103 - 116) 

9   Adult Commissioning Report - Neil Cudby/Harry Golby/Judd 
Skelton  

 

(Pages 117 - 124) 

10   Proposed Dates of Meetings in 2022/23  
 

All meetings to commence at 14:00.  
 
Wednesday 11 May 2022 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Wednesday 15 June 2022 
Wednesday 13 July 2022 

Wednesday 14 September 2022 
Wednesday 12 October 2022 
Wednesday 9 November 2022 

Wednesday 11 January 2023 
Wednesday 8 February 2023 

Wednesday 8 March 2023 
Wednesday 10 May 2023. 
 

Confirmation will be provided nearer the time as to whether the 
meetings are to be held remotely or face to face. 

 
 
Contact Officer:   

Democratic Services E-Mail: decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk 



Minutes of the Meeting of the Adults Commissioning Committee held 

via MS Teams on Wednesday 12th January 2022 

Meeting started at 14:00 
Meeting ended at 16:05 

Present 

Cllr Damian Bailey (DB)  Executive Support Member for Social Care & Mental Health - SCC 

Mr David Flinn (DF)  Neighbourhood Lead - CCG 

Cllr Bill Hinds (BH)  Lead Member for Finance & Support Services - SCC 

Cllr Tracy Kelly (TK)  Statutory Deputy City Mayor & Lead Member for Housing - SCC 

Mrs Karen Proctor (KP)  Director of Commissioning - CCG 

Mrs Charlotte Ramsden (CR) Strategic Director People – SCC 

Dr Tom Regan (TR)  Clinical Director for Commissioning - CCG  

Dr Jeremy Tankel (JT)  Medical Director - CCG – Chair 

Ms Claire Vaughan (CV)  Director of Quality and Head of Medicines Optimisation – CCG  

Ms Elaine Vermeulen (EV) Interim Chief Finance Officer – CCG 

 

In Attendance 
Mr Neil Cudby (NC)  Assistant Director Commissioning - CCG 

Ms Lyndsey Daly (LD)  Integrated Commissioning Manager - SCC 

Ms Annette Donegani (AD) Senior Service Improvement Manager - CCG 

Mr Harry Golby (HG)  Deputy Director of Commissioning – CCG 

Mrs Joanne Hardman (JH) Chief Finance Officer – SCC 

Dr Tara Kearney (TK)  NCA 

Ms Zoe Morris (ZM)  Associate Director - Performance & Strategic Development - GMMH 

Ms Alison Page (AP)  Salford CVS 

Mr Judd Skelton (JS)  Assistant Director Integrated Commissioning – CCG/SCC 

Mr Paul Walsh (PW)  Assistant Director Integrated Commissioning – CCG/SCC 

Ms Carol Eddleston (CAE) Democratic Services – SCC (minutes) 

 

Apologies for Absence 

Dr Muna Abdel-Aziz  Director of Public Health – CCG/ACC 

Mr Steve Dixon (SD)  Chief Accountable Officer – CCG 

Ms Cath Gormally (CG)  Director of Adult Social Care – SCO/NCA 

Ms Gillian Mclauchlan (GMc) Deputy Director of Public Health – CCG / SCC 

Dr David McKelvey (DMcK) Neighbourhood Lead - CCG  

Cllr John Merry (JM)  Deputy City Mayor & Lead Member for Adult Social Care – SCC  

 

1. Apologies for Absence 

The above apologies were noted. 

2. Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest. 

3. Draft Minutes of the Meeting Held on 10th November 2021 

The minutes of the meeting held on 10th November 2021 were approved as a correct record. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



4. Transformation Business Cases 

TK, KP and PW presented a report which described current and planned transformation of services 

within the intermediate care tier, including proposals for investment which, subject to endorsement 

by this committee, would proceed through to CCG Governing Body and SCC Lead Member for 

approval. This would enable financial and staffing resources to be aligned ahead of the transition 
into the Greater Manchester Integrated Care Board.  

The report summarised four detailed interlinked business cases which were available to members 

upon request: 

 Community Transformation, comprising: 

o Urgent Response Team 

o Homesafe 

o Neighbourhood Therapy 

o Housing Officer 

 

 Homefirst, comprising; 

o Homefirst Acute Flow Team 

o Community Multidisplinary Team (MDT) 

o Community Reablement 

o Hospital at Home 

 

 Intermediate Care Unit, and 

 

 Independent Living Service, comprising: 

o Community Occupational Therapy 

o Care on Call 

o Accessible Accommodation Service 

o Equipment Services 

The overarching aim of the four business cases was to support the locality plan, adopting a 

strengths-based approach to build resilient people and communities with reduced dependency on 

in-patient care. When required, care would be delivered at home or as close to home as possible in a 

cost-efficient and effective way. The outcome of the proposed investment was to reduce demand 

for attendances at the emergency department, avoid admissions to 24-hour beds, reduce long 
lengths of stay in 24-hour bedded units and reduce long waiting times for reablement services. 

TK, KP and PW invited questions and observations from members as follows: 

- This work was crucial going forward – people going into hospital were worried about what would 

happen when they were discharged, particularly elderly people who had no family support 

around them. 

- During the pandemic the Rapid Discharge programme had shown that hospitals were very 

effective at discharging patients but less so at ensuring that they were safe once they were back 

at home. 

- It was intended to build on community assets and what worked well currently. 

- The multidisciplinary approach to discharge was particularly welcomed. 

- There was a lot of reablement across many services across the city and, in due course, it would 

be appropriate to review how they all fitted together and whether there was an opportunity for 

a whole system re-design.  

- Hospital colleagues needed to be comfortable with the idea that sending people home was 

usually safe but that some patients would end up being re-admitted. 

Page 2



- The business case depended on the closure of three acute wards in the hospital which was a big 

assumption. The feasibility of this needed to be regularly risk assessed and managed. 

- Closing three wards may not be compatible with pressure to reduce waiting lists.  

- At any one time approximately 100 people had no right to reside in the hospital and should not 

be in hospital for their own good, which equated to three or four wards. Dealing with those with 

no right to reside alone would free up those wards. 

- When was there going to be a formal risk assessment about future planning and the closure of 

these wards? – so far there had been only an informal risk assessment. COVID-19 made it 

difficult to undertake a full risk assessment but this would need to be done in due course.  

- The risk in relation to the three wards closing was quite small and in fact the greatest concern 

arising from the, albeit rudimentary, risk assessment undertaken so far had been around 

workforce recruitment (both in hospital and community settings). However, in fact, there had 

been significant levels of interest and interviews were taking place the next day.  

- Heartly Green was still open as a care home run by Park Homes UK but the contract for 

intermediate care had stopped. Commissioners were having discussions with Park Homes UK 

about repurposing the beds which had previously been used for intermediate care  for nursing 

and complex dementia options. 

- Investment in staffing was welcome but were there any concerns about staff retention either at 

the current time or when we emerged from COVID-19? – Currently not many people were 

leaving the Care Organisation and, on the contrary, many were looking for enhanced roles. 

There was some risk that not all posts included in the proposals would be filled but it was 

anticipated that the four business cases would work together and that the people recruited 

would work in a blended way rather than in just one service. For example it was hoped that all 

the resources for Reablement and Rehabilitation would be able to be pooled, making them more 

efficient, dynamic and attractive to staff and providing more opportunities for upskilling. 

- At the moment Occupational Therapy was the only group for which there was not an excess of 

candidates for the roles available, part of which was perhaps because of the recruitment 

strategy which was to be reviewed. 

- Salford Royal was one of the biggest employers in the area and it was important to ‘grow our 

own’ and ‘recruit our own’. 

- It would be crucial to manage, track, monitor and report on what the investment delivered 

because failure to realise the ‘cost reduction opportunities’ referred to in 6.4 would lead to 

additional pressures on the Integrated Fund and on the locality across all partners. 

- In relation to the residual gap of £190k referred to in 6.3, given the discussions on recruitment 

and staff turnover, and the possible pooling of resources in Reablement and Rehabilitation, 

there might ultimately be a natural underspend on this project and identify the opportunity to 
make the savings. 

The Adults Commissioning Committee: 

Reviewed and supported the four planned investment cases ahead of formal governance decision 

by CCG Governing Body and the SCC Deputy City Mayor and Lead Member for Adult Services, 

Health and Wellbeing;  

Reviewed and supported the recommendation that the costs saved from the closure of Heartly 
Green Intermediate Care Unit would be used to part fund the Bevan Intermediate Care Unit;  

Reviewed the further funding sources set out in the document and supported the 

recommendations set out in table 6.2; 

Reviewed and supported the recommendation that the balance of funding not yet identified of 

£190k would be expected to be realised through a review of reablement services, delivery of an 
effective service model at lower cost and potential slippage during the year; 

Page 3



Acknowledged that this was an ongoing piece of work which would be taken forward through the 

Provider Collaborative and the Locality Board, particularly in terms of implementation plans, 

monitoring, reporting, potential re-design and future opportunities for further consolidation of 

some services. 

5. Learning Disability Strategy 

LD presented the new five year Salford Adult Social Care Learning Disability Strategy and the plans 
for its implementation.  

The vision at the heart of the strategy was that Salford was a city where people with learning 

disabilities and their families had access to early, appropriate, and person-centred support which 

they had co-designed and that allowed them to live good, meaningful lives. People with learning 

disabilities should have access to all the same mainstream services and opportunities as anyone else; 

be that in accessing the health system or being supported to have happy, healthy relationships, 

employment opportunities and access to high quality and sustainable housing options. People would 

be given the opportunity to have their say through extended engagement and proactive co-
production.  

LD and PW invited questions and observations from members as follows: 

- COVID-19 had presented challenges in terms of engaging with people, especially with those who 

were unable to connect digitally. Consequently there had been a review of how the Learning 

Disability team could best engage with and support all those who needed to access services.  

Engagement had continued and services had continued to be delivered, albeit that for some, 

these had been delivered differently. 

- The data stratification of the people who were in the greatest need had also just been revised, 

particularly around transition from 14 years and upwards who could come through to Adults 

Services, so that the offer could be tailored to best meet individuals’ needs. It was anticipated 

that there would be greater demand on services. 

- It would be helpful to increase visibility and have some different touch points in the community 

so that people knew where to go. This might include working with the VCSE sector, small 

informal networks and family members, particularly for those who were coming through 

transition to adulthood. 

- The connection to Mental Health Services, community led support, Wellbeing Mattes and Living 

Well, and the wider voluntary sector (including the small grants) was crucial. 

- A lot of work had already been carried out over the last two years, including by the GM Coalition 

of Disabled People and Breakthrough UK, around understanding the impact of the pandemic on 

people with disabilities and people with learning difficulties in Greater Manchester. Research 

had shown that the challenges of ‘digital by default’ were significant. 

- Innovation and improvement would be ongoing. Much work was ongoing around flexible models 

of care to make sure that services were tailored around the person. Work was ongoing to 

develop a framework for Salford to try to test with providers how we could bring people who 

were in out of area placements back to Salford for local service provision. People with lived 

experience were directing and advocating for others who perhaps otherwise would not be in a 

position to make themselves heard. Providers would also be given the opportunity to be more 

creative and flexible with their offer. 

- What was the strategy to try to bridge the gap between the expected and the actual numbers of 

people with learning disabilities in the city? – The figures in the presentation related to the 

number supported under eligible care needs rather than the total number of people on GP 

registers. However, all the data was available and was being looked at for people aged 14+ 

- Around 1300 people with a learning disability were registered with a GP. Approximately 300 had 

a learning disability and autism. There was a separate data set for autistic people aged 14+. 

There were 650 with an eligible care need. 

Page 4



- Out of area placements were an extraordinarily expensive cohort. 

- How could Primary Care be leveraged to improve the prevention/treatment/health reviews? 
- While ‘digital first’ was an option, it was not necessarily the best offer for everyone. 

The Adults Commissioning Committee approved the draft Learning Disability Strategy subject to 

the comments above. 

6. Finance Report 

EV presented an in-year update in relation to the financial performance of the adults’ element of the 
Integrated Fund. 

At November 2021, the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund was currently forecasting to be 

overspent by £3.0m which was an improved position of £0.7m since the last report. At £3.0m, the 

adults’ fund would be £0.2m underspent against the planned deficit of £3.2m. 

JH confirmed that the current position was slightly better than had previously been expected but 
acknowledged the significant challenges ahead in 2022/23. 

The Adults Commissioning Committee noted the financial position for 2021/22 and the risks 
outlined in section four of the report. 

7. Scheduled Care Update 

AD presented an update report on work programmes relating to the recovery of Scheduled Care 

(routine and non-urgent care) following the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020. The 

update covered current (as at October 2021) Elective Care and Diagnostic performance against NHS 

Constitutional Standards; local and GM actions to facilitate scheduled care restoration and recovery, 
and the continuing impact of COVID-19. 

After being stepped down completely from the end of March 2020, non urgent care and diagnostic 

services resumed from July, by which time long diagnostic and treatment waiting times had built up. 

It had been difficult to eliminate these long diagnostic and treatment waiting times due to the 

impact of repeated COVID surges, continuing high levels of hospital admissions, reduced hospital 

capacity due to infection prevention controls and social distancing requirements, and higher staff 
absence.  

All non-urgent patients awaiting treatment were clinically reviewed in line with national non-

emergency priority criteria and where clinically indicated consultants called patients for a discussion 

following which they may be re-categorised as more urgent to be seen. Ongoing clinical prioritisation 

at Provider Trusts meant low clinical priority patients were having to wait longer for their treatment.  

Over the last three months there were around 2000 people in Salford waiting over 52 weeks for 

their treatment. 78 week waits were falling but 104 week waiters were starting to increase. 
Providers were trying a number of innovative initiatives to try to keep a cap on performance.  

Since the report was drafted the Omicron variant had taken hold and AD was able to provide details 

of the current situation: 

- The whole Hospital and Primary Care system (including General Practice) was under significant 

pressure and at the highest escalation phase (phase 4), entailing GM taking the very difficult 

decision on 4th January to cancel non-urgent elective surgery. This decision would be reviewed 

on 17th January. 

- Urgent care and cancer care would continue. 

- Patients affected by the cancellation of non-urgent elective surgery would be informed by the 

hospital so there would hopefully be no direct effect on GPs. 

Page 5



- Diagnostic tests and outpatient appointments would continue where possible. 

- There would undoubtedly be an impact on recovery and probably a reduction in performance 
and an increase in waiting times. 

Questions and observations from members were as follows: 

- One in seven people in Salford was on a waiting list. 

- Waiting lists included admitted and non-admitted patients wating for outpatient clinics, 

assessments and diagnostics appointments – this would be broken down in future reports  

- Future reports would include a breakdown of people waiting for outpatient clinics, diagnostics 

and operations. 

- The waits were anyone waiting to commence treatment on an 18 week pathway – essentially 

everyone at every stage of their 18 week pathway from referral to commencing treatment.  

- Behind every statistic was a human being who was suffering in some way. Many elderly people 

who had been unable to get out and about due to the pandemic were now not able to get out 

and about because they were waiting for a life enhancing procedure or treatment or operation. 

At the younger end there were people of working age who could not access employment 

opportunities for similar reasons. 

The Adults Commissioning Committee noted the Scheduled Care Update report and Salford CCG’s 
performance against Scheduled Care national standards and Covid-19 recovery plans. 

8. Cancer Care Update 

NC provided an update report on work programmes relating to Cancer Care. The update covered 

current performance against relevant NHS Constitutional Standards, including a detailed breakdown 

of breach analysis, actions being taken to address underperformance, and ‘other’ Cancer Services 
Updates. 

Cancer services had been maintained during the pandemic and continued to be prioritised during 

the Omicron wave. 

The main challenges were around the two week wait referral standards. Referrals had returned to 

pre-COVID levels, which indicated that patients were coming forward with their cancer concerns, but 

there were a number of areas where providers were having challenges in meeting those standards : 

particularly the Skin Pathway at Salford Care Organisation and the Breast Pathway, which was 

predominantly an issue at Manchester Foundation Trust. Skin referrals on two week waits were 36% 

above pre-COVID levels. However, the majority were being seen within 21 days and there were not 
many breaches of the treatment within the 62 days standard. 

There were some positive updates around ongoing progress in the Lung Health Check Programme, 

the Teledermatology Pilot, NHS-Galleri Trial, Cancer Rapid Diagnostic Centre and Prehab4cancer. 

Questions and observations from members were as follows: 

- The earlier report on the Learning Disability Strategy had confirmed that lots of people with LD 

were not engaging with screening and thought need to be given to how to prioritise the 20% 

within local communities who were not engaging with screening or treatment.  

- At what point would it be known whether the NHS-Galleri Trial was making any difference? – 

The trial had now completed in Salford, with around 2000 invited to participate. Patients with a 

positive result were referred to the Rapid Diagnostic Centre. Anecdotal evidence at this stage 

was positive, indicating that the majority of those with a positive signal in their blood test were 

subsequently found to have early stage, very treatable cancer. It was unlikely that there would 

be any formal evaluation until later in this calendar year. 

Page 6



- 104+ waits – could a detailed review of these patients be undertaken to identify if contact 

needed to be made with the hospital in relation to prioritisation and also to establish if any harm 

had been done. NC confirmed that he would be happy to do that. The NCA was undertaking 

harm reviews in relation to the 104+ day waits and there was a breach report showing breach 

reason, organisation and pathway. The CCG was trying to get clarification on the outcomes of 
the harm reviews that the NCA had undertaken. 

The Adults Commissioning Committee noted the update on work programmes relating to Cancer 

Care. 

9. Living Well Business Case 

JS presented the business case associated with the phase 3 Living Well roll out to city -wide delivery. 

Building on phase 1 (Living Well Pilot) and phase 2 (successful 2020 business case to place Mental 

Health Practitioners in Primary Care), phase 3 of the Living Well approach described the location of 

mental health practitioners and recovery workers located in PCNs, supported by a wider Living Well 

core MDT (which includes psychology, peer support, psychiatry etc). Pathways to access secondary 

care were in place in addition to wider pathways to context with the Living Well community and 

network support offers (e.g., Wellbeing Matters, IAPT, bereavement support, substance misuse 
support etc). 

The business case focused on the maintenance of the existing capacity and the planned extension to 

Living Well to increase capacity in the MDT to support the demand from all 5 PCN localities.  

Evaluation of the Living Well work to date had been conducted across a range of measures (including 

external evaluation via Cordis Bright, lived experience via ethnographic research, service monitoring 

data and voluntary sector partnership evaluation). Summaries of evaluation information we re 
showing a positive impact for both the individual and the system. 

Funding for Living Well in Salford was not part of the Integrated Fund. The business case was being 

presented for approval by the GMMH Finance and Investment Committee on 25th January 2022 and 
the CCG Governing Body on 26th January 2022.  

The Adults Commissioning Committee welcomed the business case associated with phase 3 and 

endorsed the recommendations in the report. The committee acknowledged the key role that the 
VCSE sector played in Living Well.  

10. Any Other Business 

There were no items of any other business. 

11. Date and Time of Next Meeting 

The next meeting was scheduled to be held at 14:00 on 1st February 2022 but, as that that was in 

less than three weeks’ time, it was agreed that the meeting would be cancelled unless there were 
any pressing items of business. The meeting after that was scheduled for 14:00 on 9th March 2022. 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

ADULTS COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE 

9th March 2022 

AGENDA ITEM NO 4: Community Diagnostic Centre Business Case 

 
Item for: Decision 
 

Report of: Ben Colman, Senior Project Manager, Salford Care 
Organisation 

Tori Quinn, Head of Service Improvement, Salford 
CCG 

Phil Kemp, Head of Finance and Contracting, Salford 
CCG 

Date of Paper: 09/03/22 

In case of query, please contact: Tori Quinn – tori.quinn@nhs.net 

Strategic Priorities:  
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research 

Adult Services 

Children’s and Maternity Services 

All Age Mental Health 

Primary Care 

Enabling Transformation 

Mayoral Priorities: 
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Tackling poverty and inequality 

Reducing Health Inequalities 

Skills and Education (A Learning City) 

Affordable Housing 

Transport and Digital Connectivity 

Tackling the Climate Change Emergency 

Vibrant Place and Spaces 

Creating an Economy for All 

Purpose of Paper:                                    

 
This report provides the business case for the CCG to invest in the development of a network 
of community diagnostic centres across Salford. 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4

https://www.salford.gov.uk/cmpriorities


 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

Further information 

How will this benefit the health and wellbeing of 
Salford residents, or the CCG or City Council? 

The plan is to open a Diagnostic centre in 
each neighbourhood this would bring care 
closer to home and reduce travelling and 
access issues for patients. 

The benefits of community diagnostic centres 
include reduced attendance to the hospital 
site, quicker diagnoses, reduced infection 
risks. 

 

How does this paper address health inequalities 
and promote inclusion? 

The proposal will bring care closer to home for 
the residents of Salford and will be open to all 
adults. 

What risks may arise as a result of this paper 
and how will they be mitigated? 

Utilisation may not meet expectation meaning 
the cost per test increases – this will be 
mitigated by ensuring there is a clear 
communications plan to ensure Primary and 
Secondary care know where and how to 
refer. Regular operational meetings will 
review activity data and additional 
services/tests could be added if there is 
capacity 

Estate – there may not be adequate available 
estate to accommodate the clinics in each 
neighbourhood – this will be mitigated by 
working closely with estates colleagues and 
PCNs to identify buildings and reallocate 
services if required 

Finance – there is a risk in expanding the 
service, that it is not commissioned in 
following years. This will be mitigated through 
close activity monitoring and ongoing 
development led by the steering group 

Staffing – there is a risk if staff are employed 
that the costs are not covered longer-term. 
This will be mitigated by offering staff short-
term contracts. 

 

Does this address any existing high risks facing 
the organisation and how does it reduce them? 

NA 

Page 10



 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

Are there any possible conflicts of interest 
associated with this paper? 

None yet identified 

Will any current services or roles be affected by 
issues within this paper and what are they? 

Cardiorespiratory Investigations within Salford 

Care Organisation (SCO) 
 
Phlebotomy in primary care 

 
Outpatients department in SCO 

Note: Where appropriate, please ensure detail is provided. 

Document Development 

Has there been Public Engagement? 

Yes – Patients attending the pilot site have been 
given a questionnaire (approx. 20% response rate 
which equals c.500) There have been high levels  

of satisfaction with the existing CDC service. 

 

Has there been Clinical Engagement? 

The CDC steering group and operational group has 
clinical representation from Primary and 

Secondary Care. Engagement sessions have 
taken place at PCN meetings and at Specialty 
meetings. 

 

Has the impact on Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally been considered? 

Yes – the CDC brings care closer to home and 
reduces the number of appointments each patient 
may need which reduces the need for patients to 

travel, therefore benefitting the environment.  
Regard has been given to accessibility when 
prioritising where to open further CDCs. 

 

Has there been an analysis of any impacts on 
equality? 

An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) will be 
completed but no issues identified as yet. 

 

Has legal advice been obtained? NA 

Has this been to any groups or committees for 
engagement, comments, or approval?  

The four-month evaluation has been presented at 
the Adult’s Advisory Board. 

This paper has been discussed at Salford Care 
Organisation (SCO) investment committee. The 
committee had similar comments as SFG (see 

below). 

 

The paper was discussed at Service and Finance 

Group in February and the following 
recommendations were made: 
1) SFG supported the principle of commissioning 

and rolling out Community Diagnostic 
Centre’s to be accessible across Salford 

Page 11



 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

2) SFG supported that the locality should work 
within the £0.5m allocation for CDC’s going 

forward in Salford. However, it noted that 
learning from the pilot should be taken 
forward especially improving utilisation of the 

service which supports the value for money 
and test per case calculation. It also clarified 
that the offer going forward doesn’t 

necessarily mean 5 centres in each PCN 
operational each day and could be a model 
that moves across the locality which could 

help with these financial metrics 
3) After dialogue with SRFT finance colleagues it 

assumes there is no additional ask from 

Salford CCG in 2021/22 
4) It was agreed that with changes with the 

commissioning environment that the locality 

board would have this on its work plan to 

receive, review and steer going forwards 

 
Note: Where relevant, please provide detail and ensure that it is clear how and when particular stakeholders were involved 
in this work, that there is clarity of what the key message/decision was, and whether amendments were requested about 
any part of the work.

Page 12



 

    

    
    
     

Community Diagnostic Centres 
 

1.  Executive Summary 

   
 
A community diagnostic centre offering simple cardiorespiratory investigations and 
phlebotomy has been tested since April 2021. This paper outlines the evaluation from the 
test and proposes a further expansion into each neighbourhood.  

The benefits of community diagnostic centres are reduced attendance to the hospital site, 
quicker diagnoses, reduced infection risks and greater division between acute and 
elective diagnostics.  

This paper proposes the development of a network of community diagnostic centres 
(CDCs) in Salford. The paper describes the outcomes of a test of one centre, based at 
Swinton Gateway. 

The investment will enable the setting up of a diagnostic centre in each neighbourhood, 
offering a range of cardiorespiratory investigations and phlebotomy.1  

CDCs are one of the recommendations of the Independent Review of Diagnostic 
Services. Demand for diagnostic tests is increasing and CDCs offer patients quicker, 
more convenient diagnostics, with lower infection risk. CDCs offer the possibility of 
transforming the traditional outpatient pathway and help to free up capacity for acute, 
hospital-based diagnostics. CDCs can also reduce pressure on primary care services.  

The proposal will increase diagnostic capacity across Salford.  

The investment, if approved, will support integrated working and improve health and 
wellbeing outcomes for the people of Salford. The wider system benefits include reduced 
pressure on general practice and fewer unnecessary visits to hospital. Aligned to new 
models of care delivery, the CDC may support the delivery of elements of the NHS long 
term plan including an overall 30% reduction in the number of face-to-face outpatient 
appointments. 

At the start of the financial year the CCG, as part of the planning process, identified 
£500,000 for this service, this Business Case totals £516,000, so there is a shortfall of 
£16,000. 

This paper was presented at Salford Care Organisation (SCO) investment committee and 
Service and Finance Group (SFG) in February. Both committees provided similar feedback. 
The SFG supported the paper and made some recommendations. These 
recommendations are: 

                                                                 
1 One of the recommendations from the Service and Finance Group was to review the model going forward as it doesn’t 
necessarily have to be 5 centres, one in each PCN, operational each day and could be a flexible model that moves across 
the locality 

 

Page 13



 

    

    
    
     

1. SFG supported the principle of commissioning and rolling out Community Diagnostic 
Centre’s to be accessible across all areas of Salford 

2. SFG supported that the locality should work within the £0.5m allocation for CDC’s 
going forward in Salford. It should be noted that the final amount of the national 
allocation from Service Development Fund (SDF) has not been published but for a 
planning perspective is expected to be similar value to that received in 2021/22. 

3. SFG noted that learning from the pilot should be taken forward with an aim to improve 
utilisation of the service. This will support the value for money and test per case 
calculation. SFG also clarified that the offer going forward doesn’t necessarily mean 
five centres in each PCN, operational each day and could be a model that moves 
across the locality which could help with these financial metrics (a model like the Lung 
Health Check Service) 

4. After dialogue with SRFT finance colleagues it is assumed there is no additional ask 
from Salford CCG for the financial year 2021/22 

5. It was agreed that with impending changes within the commissioning environment that 
the Locality Board would have this on its work plan to receive, review and steer going 
forward 

 

Adults Commissioning Committee is asked to: 

 Review and support the proposal including working within the expected £0.5m 
allocation envelope. 

 Review and support the recommendation that the model should work within the £0.5m 
allocation for CDC’s going forwards and take forward learning from the pilot and 
options other than having five fixed, daily Centres in each PCN should be explored 

 Support there being a further review of the service in 6 months ’ time, and 6 months 
after that until all parties are comfortable with the model 

 Support the recommendation that the CDC be added to the work plan of the Locality 
Board and this board will subsequently receive, review and steer the service going 
forward 

 
 

2.  Strategic Context 
 
2.1 The NHS Long Term Plan2 recognised the need to invest in faster, modern diagnostic 

services to support new models of care. Rapid Diagnostic Centres and Community 
Diagnostic Centres (CDCs) will support the reduction in the number of face-to-face 
outpatient visits.  

 

                                                                 
2 NHS Long Term Plan 

Page 14

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/online-version/chapter-1-a-new-service-model-for-the-21st-century/4-digitally-enabled-primary-and-outpatient-care-will-go-mainstream-across-the-nhs/


 

    

    
    
     

2.2 In October 2020, Professor Sir Mike Richards published “Diagnostics: Recovery and 
Renewal: Report of the Independent Review of Diagnostic Services for NHS England” which 
made a series of recommendations including the development of community diagnostic 
centres which would carry out cardiorespiratory investigations and phlebotomy: 

 
The establishment of CDCs provides the opportunity to revolutionise cardiorespiratory 
diagnostics, improving quality and accuracy of tests, efficiency and convenience for patients, 
while minimising any risks related to Covid-193 
 

2.3 Covid-19 has both highlighted and strengthened the need to develop community diagnostic 
centres which will enable faster, safer diagnoses, help to manage the additional demand for 
cardiorespiratory investigations, and help to separate out acute and elective diagnostics. 
They will also help to reduce footfall at the hospital and reduce the number of diagnostic 
requests from secondary to primary care clinicians. 

 
2.4 Salford’s local assessment and diagnostics strategy was co-developed and approved at the 

Health and Care Commissioning Board in September 2020. The strategy includes the 
development of community based (hospital/community/GP) assessment and diagnostics – 
CDCs. 

   
 

3. Background Scope and Aims 
 
3.1 CDCs support integrated working, aligning to the NHS Long Term Plan and have been 

accelerated due to Covid-19. Reducing the number of people coming to hospital by moving 
activity to the community requires greater collaboration and better communication between 
primary and secondary care and supports new, more streamlined pathways.  

 
3.2 A primary care diagnostic unit (PCDU) in Ordsall and Claremont neighbourhood has been 

funded through innovation funding since 2017. Whilst this has been well-received by 
clinicians and patients and has delivered diagnostic tests in the community, it has not been 
possible to replicate the model in the four other neighbourhoods due to financial 
sustainability. Lessons from this work have been taken and applied to the setting up of the 
CDC.  

3.3 The traditional model of outpatients is outdated and unsustainable4. Greater use of virtual 
consultations and digital tools/processes such as specialist ‘Advice and Guidance’ and triage 
will reduce the need for outpatient appointments. A traditional patient journey might be a GP 
referral to the hospital, a first outpatient appointment at which the consultant orders some 
tests, a second visit to the hospital some weeks later to have the tests, followed up by a third 
outpatient appointment to review the results with the consultant.  

3.4 At its most effective, the CDC, combined with virtual outpatient appointments could enable a 
new patient journey: a GP referral to a triage service where the consultant orders tests in the 
community, receives and reviews the results and then either has a telephone appointment 

                                                                 
3 Diagnostics: Recovery and Renewal 

4 NHS Long Term Plan 

Page 15

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/diagnostics-recovery-and-renewal-independent-review-of-diagnostic-services-for-nhs-england-2.pdf


 

    

    
    
     

with the patient or perhaps discharges the patient with advice back to the GP.  The below 
graphic shows the difference between these two pathways: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 Demand for cardiorespiratory investigations and blood tests 

3.6 In 2019/20, 149,000 tests5 were carried out by Salford GPs on their patients, including: 

Test Number completed 

Pulse Oximetry 17,350 
Spirometry /Fractional exhaled Nitric Oxide (FeNO) 3,922 

Electrocardiogram (ECG) (basic 12 lead + advanced) 7,746 
Echocardiogram 1,930 

Phlebotomy 46,527 
 

3.7 Additionally, Salford Care Organisation (SCO) carried out 46,655 cardiorespiratory 
investigations, of which 28,000 were for Salford residents.  

3.8 During the Covid-19 pandemic secondary care has reduce elective hospital visits. One 
impact has been a potential increase in the number of requests from secondary care to 
primary care to carry out blood tests. While this may have contributed to reducing hospital 
attendance during the pandemic, the shift in activity has created a longer clinical pathway 
and added further pressure to primary care.  

3.9 The Independent Review of Diagnostic Services recognises that the number of 
cardiorespiratory investigations is set to grow for months and years due to Covid-19 and, 
longer-term due to the prevalence of relevant diseases, the introduction of more effective 

                                                                 
5 Data provided by Salford CCG, May 2021 

Page 16



 

    

    
    
     

treatments requiring close monitoring and the introduction of less invasive procedures which 
can be of benefit to a wider population.6 

4. The Community Diagnostic Centre Test 
 
4.1 A six-month test began in April 2021, during which capacity and demand was reviewed, with 

evaluation of the test on an ongoing basis. The evaluation focussed on:  
 

 Access to diagnostic tests 

 Timeliness 
 Safety 

 User experience 

4.2 The evaluation also looked at how many primary care diagnostics were undertaken at the 
Primary Care Diagnostic Unit in Ordsall and Claremont. The evaluation has used a mixture 
of recorded data from primary care and secondary care and qualitative data from patient 
surveys and feedback from staff.  

 
4.3 The CDC offers the following tests: 
 

ECG 24hr ECG 24hr BP 72hr event 
5 day event Spirometry Sleep studies Phlebotomy 

 

4.4 Clinics are available Monday, Wednesday, and Thursday from 8am to noon, on Tuesday and 
Friday from 8am to 7pm and on Saturday mornings. 

4.5 Staff have been trained to carry out all the tests that are on offer, including phlebotomy. This 
allows flexibility to change appointment slots as utilisation and demand changes.  

 
 

5. Access to Diagnostic Tests 
 
5.1 Tests can be ordered by secondary care clinicians and appointments booked at the CDC in 

a number of ways:  
 

1. For cardiorespiratory investigations, the consultant can make an order on the 
Electronic Patient Referral system (EPR) and choose community as the location.  

2. For phlebotomy, the consultant can make a blood order on EPR and: 
a. ask their medical secretary to book the appointment at the CDC 
b. Give the patient a phone number to call and book their own appointment 
c. Use a new e-outcome form which includes free text for additional booking 

information 

5.2 Primary care clinicians can refer patients to the CDC for diagnostic tests. At present most 
tests require the GP to have already sought Advice and Guidance from a secondary care 

                                                                 
6 Appendix 4 Diagnostic Recovery and Renewal 

Page 17

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/diagnostics-recovery-and-renewal-report-of-the-independent-review-of-diagnostic-services-for-nhs-england/


 

    

    
    
     

clinician. Since August 2021, GPs have been able to refer for spirometry without going 
through the Advice and Guidance process and this is being reviewed for other types of tests.  

 
5.3 For phlebotomy, the CDC is setting up access to the Integrated Clinical Environment system 

(ICE) which will simplify the referral process for GPs and reduce the risks of incomplete 
bloods being taken.  

 
 

6. Clinical Activity April - November 2021 
 
6.1 Between April and November 2021, (since the start of the pilot), the CDC has carried out 

2,687 tests.  
 
6.2 Rates of primary care referral to the CDC, based in Swinton, are high for patients with a 

Swinton GP. The high rates of referral from Ordsall and Claremont may be explained by the 
GPs in that PCN being more familiar with the concept of community diagnostics, having had 
access to the Primary Care Diagnostic Unit for a number of years.  

6.3 Patients attending the CDC from secondary care are also highest for patients registered with 
Swinton and Ordsall & Claremont GPs. 

PCN Rates of referral per 10,000 population 

 Primary care Secondary care Total 

Broughton 14 9 23 

Eccles and Irlam 47 25 72 
Little Hulton and 
Walkden 19 35 54 

Ordsall and 
Claremont 99 47 147 

Swinton 73 56 129 

 
6.4 Mix of tests and clinic utilisation 

6.4.1 The following two charts show the current utilisation by test and the number of tests carried 
out:  

Month 24HECGSW 24HRBPSW 5DAYSW 72HRSW ECGSW PHLEBSW SLEEPSW SPIROSW 

Apr 74.0% 62.5% 65.3% 88.1% 11.9%   53.6% 

May 84.5% 69.3% 83.9% 70.8% 31.8%  30.0% 38.6% 

Jun 78.2% 55.4% 40.8% 62.5% 18.6% 6.7% 20.0% 22.0% 

Jul 67.6% 75.0% 68.3% 83.3% 38.1% 12.2% 30.0% 25.3% 

Aug 80.6% 61.7% 69.6% 83.3% 39.2% 26.7% 65.7% 57.9% 

Sep 77.9% 37.0% 46.9% 70.8% 28.3% 25.9% 48.0% 63.9% 

Oct 84.9% 49.1% 64.3% 70.0% 34.9% 24.4% 60.0% 73.8% 

Nov 66.2% 72.1% 77.8% 75.0% 52.5% 25.6% 62.2% 66.2% 

Page 18



 

    

    
    
     

 
 

 
 
6.4.2 Over the same period the primary care diagnostic unit (PCDU) has carried out 653 tests with 

clinic utilisation as follows:  
 

ECGPF1O ECGPFLAN EC48HR10 BP24HR1O BP24HRLA FENOR FENO BP24HR 

52.50% 58.60% 61.40% 59.30% 68.10% 32.10% 60.00% 50.00% 

 
6.4.3 As referrals and orders are received the same administrative team can book appointments 

for both CDC and PCDU and will be able to review the patient’s GP and book the patient into 
the most convenient centre.  

 

7. Impact of the CDC 
 
7.1 The Covid-19 pandemic has had a major impact on waiting times for cardiorespiratory 

investigations, with waits peaking at 28 weeks and hovering in Q4 2020/21 and Q1 2021/22 
at 11 weeks. Since the CDC opened, wait times have decreased. 

 
7.2 Between June and August 2021 waiting times were within the eight-week target and in 

October and September 2021, had reduced further to within six weeks.  
 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov

Number of booked slots per test by month

24HECGSW 24HRBPSW 5DAYSW 72HRSW ECGSW PHLEBSW SLEEPSW SPIROSW

Page 19



 

    

    
    
     

 

 
 
7.3 Patient satisfaction 

 
7.3.1 Almost 500 patients have completed a short survey about their experience of the CDC. Most 

patients indicated they preferred to attend the CDC rather than the hospital:  
 

 
 

CDC started 

Page 20

https://app.powerbi.com/MobileRedirect.html?action=OpenReport&appId=6f6f9868-90b4-4d83-8ca3-bf8e34772576&reportObjectId=a7332b4f-36fe-45e2-9f25-9596f0ec486d&ctid=9a12677e-c2e9-4deb-a58a-ee1c59ac0161&reportPage=ReportSection719a2bf8416b01525e08&pbi_source=copyvisualimage


 

    

    
    
     

7.3.2 Of the 265 people that left a comment about why they preferred going to the CDC: 

 60 people said the gateway was closer or nearer to their home  

 90 people said that they preferred the gateway because it was easier than the 
hospital 

7.3.3 Once patients arrive at the gateway, the experience was largely positive: 

 
7.3.4 A small number of patients also mentioned that they preferred the gateway because it was 

less crowded than the hospital. To date there have been no Datix incidents reported 
regarding infection.  

 
7.4 Reducing outpatient appointments and hospital attendance 

 
7.4.1 Two specialities have been able to use the CDC to speed up the referral and triage process 

and reduce face to face outpatient appointments, by ordering diagnostic tests as part of their 
triage service. This allows the specialist to review the test results and then decide on the 
best course of action; either arrange a face-to-face appointment, a virtual appointment or to 
discharge the patient and provide the GP with advice. The impact of this model has not been 
proven yet but is anticipated.  

 
7.4.2 In other areas, the CDC is enabling consultants to order tests which otherwise would have 

required hospital attendance.  
 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Getting to the
Gateway

Finding the right
room

Waiting time Questions
answered

Please rate the following

Good OK Bad

Page 21



 

    

    
    
     

7.4.3 The CDC is also freeing up capacity in the hospital. Between April and November 2021, 
8.8% of cardiorespiratory investigations ordered by Trust consultants have been carried out 
in the CDC and 2.6% in the primary care diagnostic unit (PCDU). 
  

7.4.4 In total there have been 3,6587 referrals to community diagnostics:  
 

 CDC PCDU 

Salford Care Organisation 8.8% 2.6% 
Primary Care 46.0% 12.7% 

 

7.5 Improving speed of diagnoses 
 

7.5.1 The majority of patients reported having their tests within four weeks of seeing the clinician. 
This implies quicker diagnoses and more appropriate next steps, whether that be starting a 
treatment plan, making a referral or discharging the patient.  

 

 
7.6 Outcomes and Benefits 

 
7.6.1 A mid-point evaluation of the CDC project identified a number of benefits, details of which 

can be found in appendix 1. In summary: 

 The CDC has reduced waiting times for diagnostics  

 The CDC has reduced hospital attendances by patients coming for diagnostic tests 
and therefore lowered infection risk 

 The CDC will reduce pressure on primary care by providing secondary care with an 
alternative to ordering tests to be carried out in hospital or requesting GPs carry out 
tests. This is a particular issue for phlebotomy 

                                                                 
7 SCO referral data, source of referral is either Trust consultant, e-RS or Patent’s own GP 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Under 4 weeks more than 4 weeks

How long did you wait between your referral and your test?

How long did you wait for your test? 

Row Labels Primary care Secondary care

Page 22



 

    

    
    
     

 The CDC will facilitate the splitting of acute and elective diagnostic tests, providing 
speedier access for both 

 Cardiology and respiratory medicine are using the centre to order diagnostic tests as 
part of triage which is reducing the number of outpatient appointments required 

7.6.2 Other specialities may be able to develop similar patient pathways which reduce the number 
of unnecessary outpatient appointments.  

7.6.3 Enabling both primary care and secondary care clinicians to access the same diagnostic 
centre will allow patients to receive quicker care, closer to home and reduce the number of 
unnecessary referrals.  

7.6.4 Utilisation remains challenging, in particular for phlebotomy which accounts for 
approximately 1/3 of the slots at Swinton CDC. Since offering phlebotomy at the CDC, 
utilisation has grown steadily, and a new round of secondary care communication and 
engagement started in November 2021 and will continue into 2022. Behaviour change where 
there is not an immediate, apparent benefit to the user is difficult and given the focus on 
elective recovery, the messages about the new service did not begin to strike the right chord 
until late into 2021.There have additionally been some digital issues which have restricted 
primary care requests following Advice and Guidance.  

7.6.5 Increases in the number of primary care referrals are also expected as improvements to 
integrated digital systems are being implemented. Further communications should increase 
the number of referrals/orders being made and, as utilisation increases, the CDC’s flexibility 
will enable changes in the mix of tests being offered, to meet demand. Additional staff 
training is taking place in January 2022, which will further enhance the diagnostic offer.  

7.6.6 A steering group continues to meet and is working to increase utilisation. As well as further, 
intensive communications and targeting of those GP practices and specialities that are 
under-using the CDC, options being looked at include making it easier for primary care to 
make referrals, making additional types of tests available and opening the CDC to other 
services. 

8. Proposals 
 
8.1 In order to deliver equality of service across the city, meet the recommendations of the 

independent review of diagnostic services, improve patient pathways and increase 
diagnostic capacity, access to centres should be provided in each neighbourhood. These will 
be used by secondary care clinicians to avoid patients attending hospital and by primary 
care clinicians following Advice and Guidance. 

  
8.2 Further engagement and communications with secondary care specialities with a 

strengthened message is expected to deliver significant increases in the number of orders 
from secondary care, in particular for phlebotomy.  

 
8.3 A new evaluation plan will be developed which includes: 
 

 Continued growth in utilisation to 85% by Q3 2022/23 
 Continued high rates of patient satisfaction  

Page 23



 

    

    
    
     

 Evidence of shortened patient pathways and reduced hospital attendances for 
patients who have diagnostic tests in the community  

 Primary care feedback that there are fewer inappropriate requests for phlebotomy 
received from secondary care 

8.4 SCO clinical space has been identified in Irlam and Little Hulton and planning is underway to 
open centres before the end of the financial year 2021/22. It is also planned to reopen 
Pendleton Gateway within the financial year. Other sites in Broughton and a mobile 
diagnostic option are also being explored.  

 
8.5 These sites will deliver approximately 500 appointment slots per week. The number of slots 

at each centre has been determined by the estate available:   
 

CDC Number of slots per 
week 

Progress Location 

Swinton 200 Operational Swinton Gateway 

Irlam  110 January ’22 start Irlam Medical 
Centre 

Little Hulton 75 January ’22 start Little Hulton 
Health Centre 

Pendleton 44 PCDU Pendleton 
Gateway 

Broughton  75 TBC TBC 
Total 504 

 
8.6 Costs 

 
8.6.1 Mobilisation: SCO had empty clinic space at Swinton Gateway so estate costs for the first six 

months of the test were just for weekend opening. £107K capital costs required for new 
monitors and other equipment were absorbed by Salford Care Organisation in 2020/21. The 
CDC is staffed by band 3 Health Care Assistants. 

 
8.6.2 The CDC set out to provide approximately 210 clinic slots per week, or 5,460 slots over six 

months. 
 
8.6.3 During the first six months of the test, management and support were provided by the 

existing CRI service.  
 
8.6.4 From October 2021 to March 2022, the costs of running community diagnostics increased to 

include management and support costs. As the number of tests being requested increased, 
maintaining support through BAU was no longer feasible. 

 
8.6.5 Additionally, staff were recruited in preparation for the opening of new CDCs. There has 

been a delay in the opening which has impacted on costs. 
 
8.6.6 In order to expand the CDC offer across the city, a further £180K of equipment is required, 

some of which was purchased in 2021/22. 
 
 
 

Page 24



 

    

    
    
     

8.7 Staffing and costings for 2022/23 onwards 

 
8.7.1 Providing CDCs in each neighbourhood more than doubles the number of tests carried out 

and requires additional management support plus sufficient staffing for sickness and annual 
leave. This proposal also provides flexibility for staff to move across the city as required. 
Please note the PCDU will be absorbed into this model and will become a CDC. Staffing 
resource/costs for the PCDU are included in the below tables from Year 2 onwards. 

 
 

Staff  PCDU CDH Total 21/22 22/23 

B2 Admin 0.8 2 2.8  2.8 

B3 Admin 1 2 3 1 2 

B3 HCA 0.59 6 6.59 3 3.59 

B4 HCA 0 1 1  1 

B5 Admin 0 1 1 1 0 

B5 Nurse 0 1 1  1 

   15.39 5 10.39 

Page 25



 

     

     
     
  

8.7.2 Full year costs for community diagnostic centres: 
  

  

  Year1 Year2 Year3 

  21/22 22/23 23/24 

WTE £'000 £'000 £'000 

Capital Costs         

          
Income         

          
CCG Funding         

RDC Funds    120     

          
Total Income   120 0 0 

Pay         

          
April 2021 to September 2021         

Band 3 staff previously supporting vaccination hub - including 
phlebotomist time 

1.43  -19  0  0  

NHSP Band 3 Support 1.00  -14  0  0  

Band 3 ABC admin support through NHSP 1.00  -13  0  0  

Management time   -7  0  0  

Deduct: Costs of posts redeployed from other areas   19  0  0  

          
September 2021 Onwards (Costs for Year 2 include PCDU)         

Band 3 Clinical for Swinton Gateway  3.00  -41  -82  -82  

Band 3 Clinical for Little Hulton, Irlam, Broughton & Pendleton  3.00  -7  -82  -82  

PCDU Band 3 Clinical   0.59  0  -15  -15  

Band 3 ABC admin support  3.00  -13  -79  -79  

Management support - B5 1.00  -17  -34  -34  

B2 Admin  2.80  0  -66  -66  

B4 Nurse  1.00  0  -31  -31  

B5 Nurse 1.00  0  -39  -39  

          

Pay Total   -112  -428  -428  

Non Pay         

          
Consumables   -20  -80  -80  

Equipment/Set up costs for Irlam & Broughton community hubs   -1808  0  0  

Weekend Rental Charges Swinton Gateway  34 weeks  -2  -8  -8  

          
Non Pay Total   -202  -88  -88  

Total Expenditure   -194  -516  -516  

EBITDA   -194  -516  -516  

Surplus / (Deficit)   -1949  -516  -516  

                                                                 
8 The CCG and SCO does not expect any additional capital costs in years 2 and 3 due to costs in year 1 

9 Please note an agreement on costs in year one has been finalised between the CCG and SCO. Figures are only 
included here for reference  

Page 26



 

    

    
    
     

8.7.3 Costs per test for are shown below and based on number of test slots per year and 85% 
utilisation10. Costs per test are shown with and without capital costs: 

 
 21/22  22/23 23/24 

Number of tests    

Staffing £12.30 £19.76 £19.76 
+ consumables + 
estate £14.72 £23.83 £23.83 
+ capital £21.31 £23.83 £23.83 

 
 

9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 The pilot of the community diagnostic centre during 2021/22 has identified demand and 

determined capacity required to meet demand for operation of a city-wide community 
diagnostic centre network. The pilot has illustrated that utilisation of the test slots made 
available will continue to grow over time, as clinician awareness increases, and ways of 
working are changed and embedded. 

 
9.2 Community diagnostic centres across the city will: 

 Support meeting national guidance for the introduction of community diagnostics and 
new models of care 

 Provide improved patient experience (closer to home, quicker and avoiding 
unnecessary appointments, lowering infection risks) 

 Reduce unnecessary outpatient appointments, where investigations are completed 
prior to appointments and decisions made, thus contributing to supporting national 
targets to reduce outpatient appointments 

 Offer the capacity to support managing a growing demand for diagnostics and in the 
coming year ongoing recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic 

 Offer opportunities to learn and develop the CDC model such as with further 
investigations and tests but also learning to utilise for other neighbourhood models of 
care provision 

9.3 Without the CDC patients would be directed to tests and investigations at the hospital site or 
within primary care which will lead to increased waits and impact on timeliness of care and 
decision making. Additional capacity would be required to manage demand to avoid waiting 
times growing. 

9.4 The Service and Finance Group made the following statements/recommendations: 

 
1) SFG supported the principle of commissioning and rolling out Community Diagnostic 

Centres to be accessible across all areas of Salford 

2) SFG supported that the locality should work within the £0.5m allocation for CDC’s going 
forward in Salford. It should be noted that the final amount of the national allocation from 

                                                                 
10 £107K capital costs are ignored and £120K income from RDC included in 2021/22 costs.  

Page 27



 

    

    
    
     

Service Development Fund (SDF) has not been published but for a planning perspective 
is expected to be similar value to that received in 2021/22 

3) SFG noted that learning from the pilot should be taken forward with an aim to improve 
utilisation of the service. This will support the value for money and test per case 
calculation. SFG also clarified that the offer going forward doesn’t necessarily mean five 
centres in each PCN, operational each day and could be a model that moves across the 
locality which could help with these financial metrics (a model like the Lung Health Check 
Service) 

4) After dialogue with SRFT finance colleagues it is assumed there is no additional ask from 
Salford CCG for the financial year 2021/22 

5) It was agreed that with impending changes within the commissioning environment that 
the Locality Board would have this on its work plan to receive, review and steer going 
forward 

 

9.5 Adults Commissioning Committee is asked to: 

 Review and support the proposal including working within the expected £0.5m allocation 
envelope. 

 Review and support the recommendation that the model should work within the £0.5m 
allocation for CDC’s going forwards and take forward learning from the pilot and options 
other than having five fixed, daily Centres in each PCN should be explored 

 Support there being a further review of the service in 6 months’ time, and 6 months after 
that until all parties are comfortable with the model 

 Support the recommendation that the CDC be added to the work plan of the Locality 
Board and this board will subsequently receive, review and steer the service going 
forward 

 

Ben Colman 
Senior Project Manager, Salford Care Organisation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



 

    

    
    
     

Appendix 1: Community Diagnostic Centre four-month evaluation 
 

 

Diagnostic hub 

four month evaluation for AAB.pptx
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Community Diagnostic Hub four 

month evaluation

P
age 31



Context

• National
• Diagnostics: Recovery And Renewal: Report of the Independent Review 

of Diagnostic Services for NHS England

• Recommendations: new pathways to diagnosis to include 

community diagnostic hubs, minimising hospital visits, offering six 

day a week service. 

• Local
• Primary Care Diagnostic Unit test operating since July 2017 in Ordsall & 

Claremont PCN offering: ECGs, spirometry and 24hr BP, FeNO and 

phlebotomy

• Test has been popular with patients and clinicians

• Cost/test is high

P
age 32



Context

Steering group 1st met in February 2021

Model agreed

Swinton Community Diagnostic Hub opened on 6 April 2021P
age 33



Access to tests

P
age 34



Evaluation criteria

• Access to test

• Timeliness of tests

• Safety

• User experience

• Cost

P
age 35



Access to tests (April – August)

• Secondary Care
• 728 referrals from Trust consultants (approx. 7% of all 

CRI referrals)

• Cardiology and Respiratory medicine triage

• Patient journey improvements

• Additional 266 bookings are from community teams

P
age 36



Average waiting time for CRI
Av wait all CRI clinics, SCO referrals

CDH started

P
age 37



Access to tests

• Primary Care
• 699 referrals from GPs

• Advice and Guidance

• Spiro now bookable directly

• Exploring opening up ECG to book directly

• Opening in Pendleton and Little Hulton October

• 33 different GP practices have referredPCN Referrals to CDH Referrals/100,000
Broughton 36 67
Eccles & Irlam 86 141
Little Hulton & Walkden 57 97
Ordsall & Claremont 355 482
Swinton 146 314

P
age 38



Average waiting time for CRI
Av wait all CRI clinics, primary care referrals

CDH started

P
age 39



Access to tests

• Phlebotomy numbers still low

• Referrals are still difficult

• Increasing for primary care referrals

• E-Outcome work for secondary care 

orders

P
age 40



Average waiting time for CRI
Av wait all CRI clinics, all referrals Av wait CRISWG, all referrals

CDH started

P
age 41



Access to tests

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

24hr ECG 24hr BP 5day Event 72hr Event ECG Phlebotomy Sleep studies Spiro

CDH Referrals by primary and secondary care 
April - August 2021

Primary Care Secondary Care

P
age 42



Clinic utilisation 

Utilisation of slots has been variable with staffing issues in June

Trajectory since the start of July has been upwards

There is still variability between different tests

P
age 43



Access to tests

95%

77%
78%

92%

37%

24%

53%
50%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

24HECGSW 24HRBPSW 5DAYSW 72HRSW ECGSW PHLEBSW SLEEPSW SPIROSW

Average utilisation by test at CDH, April to August

Booked rate Utilisation

P
age 44



Clinic utilisation 

Phlebotomy issues are resolved and further 

communications taking place

Appointment slots are flexible – so test can be varied to fit 

demand

P
age 45



PCDU

We can maximise slots by combining CDH and PCDU models 

50%

79%

93%

76%

67%

93%
90%

60%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

BP24HR BP24HR1O BP24HRLA EC48HR10 ECGPF1O ECGPFLAN FENO FENOR

Average utilisation by test at PCDU April to August

Booked Utilisation

P
age 46



Timeliness

• Start of pathway to CDH Test times 

proving difficult to identify.

• Some patient referrals are supporting 

waiting list management

• Most referrals and orders are supporting 

new models of care

P
age 47



Safety

• No Datix to report

• Gateway is less crowded and patients are 

spaced to minimise risk

P
age 48



User experience

1

38
20

55

71

41

4

7

13

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Another medical
professional

gp hospital consultant (blank)

Referral source

How did you feel about going to the CDH instead of 
hospital?

(blank)

prefer hospital

prefer

no difference

P
age 49



User experience

Patients expressed a strong preference for attending the diagnostic hub rather than the 
hospital. The preference was stronger for patients referred by GPs compared to patients 
referred by consultants. 

The most common reasons given were: 

easy/easier (45 mentions)
Closer/near (26 mentions)
Quick (10 mentions)

P
age 50



User experience

95

24

38 37

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

(blank)

less than 4 weeks more than 4 weeks (blank)

How long did you wait for your test?

Another medical professional

gp

hospital consultant

(blank)

P
age 51



Costs

• Costs for the first six months: 
• Estate: £5200
• Staffing: £35,949
• Total: £41,149
• Cost/test @ 85% clinic utilisation: £7.50
• Cost/test @ actual utilisation: £21.22

• Covid infection protection and control means that more time is 
required between tests

• Working  to improve utilisation, especially phlebotomy and 
ECG.

P
age 52



Costs

• Total cost for further six months: 
• Estate: £5200
• Staffing: £55,248
• Total: £60, 448
• Cost/test @ 85% clinic utilisation: £12.96

P
age 53



Next steps

• Phase 2 developments
• Merge CDH and PCDU
• Open up Little Hulton 
• Communications still required

• Invite other services to make use of CDH
• Build up phlebotomy offer
• Change slot types to match demand
• Pathway analysis to understand impact 

P
age 54



 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

ADULT COMMISSIONING COMMITEE 

9th MARCH 2022 
AGENDA ITEM NO 5: CURE – Tobacco Addiction Programme 
 
Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please delete as appropriate) 
 

Report of: Neil Cudby 
Assistant Director of Commissioning, Salford CCG 

Date of Paper: 28th February 2022 

In case of query, please contact: Neil.Cudby1@nhs.net  

Strategic Priorities:  
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research  

Adult Services √ 
Children’s and Maternity Services  

All Age Mental Health  
Primary Care √ 

Enabling Transformation √ 
Mayoral Priorities: 
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Tackling poverty and inequality √ 
Reducing Health Inequalities √ 

Skills and Education (A Learning City)  
Affordable Housing  

Transport and Digital Connectivity  
Tackling the Climate Change Emergency  

Vibrant Place and Spaces  
Creating an Economy for All  

Purpose of Paper:                                    

 
 
This paper gives an update on performance of the CURE project at Salford Care Organisation, aims 
to provide ACC with assurance that improvements in performance are being seen and action plans 
are in place to further improve project outcomes. 
 
The Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to: 

 Note the NHS LTP and GM requirements to have a tobacco dependence treatment service in 
all inpatient settings 

 Note the improvements in performance being seen under the CURE project and the actions 
being undertaken to further improve project outcomes 

 Approve funding to sustain the CURE Tobacco Addiction programme for inpatients at Salford 
Care Organisation 

Page 55

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Neil.Cudby1@nhs.net
https://www.salford.gov.uk/cmpriorities


 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

Further information 

How will this benefit the health and wellbeing of 
Salford residents, or the CCG or City Council? 

Reducing smoking prevalence saves lives. It also 
improves health, leading to a reduction in smoking 
related disease, then in turn a reduction in 
presentations at Primary Care and admissions to 
Secondary Care. 

How does this paper address health inequalities 
and promote inclusion? 

Areas with high levels of deprivation, have a high 
smoking prevalence. 
 
The financial ask is to ensure that this service is 
available for all inpatients. 

What risks may arise as a result of this paper 
and how will they be mitigated? 

An increase in demand for community-based 
smoking cessation services, upon discharge from 
hospital, could lead to increase costs to deliver these 
services, particularly pharmacotherapy costs. This is 
mitigated by reduction in costs for longer term 
treatment services. 
 
There is also an interdependency on the budget 
streams associated with smoking cessation 
services across the city, any changes in one will 
impact the others. 

Does this address any existing high risks facing 
the organisation and how does it reduce them? 

N/A 

Are there any possible conflicts of interest 
associated with this paper? 

No 

Will any current services or roles be affected by 
issues within this paper and what are they? 

CURE service provided by Salford Care 
Organisation 

Note: Where appropriate, please ensure detail is provided. 

Document Development 

Has there been Public Engagement? No 

Has there been Clinical Engagement? Yes – ICBC 

Has the impact on Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally been considered? 

Yes 

Has there been an analysis of any impacts on 
equality? No 

Has legal advice been obtained? No 

Has this been to any groups or committees for 
engagement, comments, or approval?  

Clinical support from Integrated Community Based 
Care Group 

Financial approval at Service and Finance Group 

 
Note: Where relevant, please provide detail and ensure that it is clear how and when particular stakeholders were 
involved in this work, that there is clarity of what the key message/decision was, and whether amendments were 
requested about any part of the work.

Page 56



 

    

    
    
     

CURE – Tobacco Addiction Programme 
 

1.  Executive Summary 
  

The CURE project is a secondary care programme that treats tobacco addiction and dependency.  
The initial pilot was delivered at Wythenshawe Hospital and was then rolled out in 2020 across six 
other acute Trust sites in GM, including Salford (commencing August 2020).   
 
The CURE Business Case (Appendix 1) was presented to Adult Commissioning Committee (ACC) 
in September 2021 with a request for support for continued funding. At that time ACC expressed 
some concern that the project was not currently delivering as originally projected and a six-month 
extension was agreed with a further assurance paper required at that time. 
 
This paper gives an update on performance of the CURE project at Salford Care Organisation, aims 
to provide ACC with assurance that improvements in performance are being seen and actions are 
being undertaken to further improve project outcomes. 
 
The Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to: 

 Note the NHS LTP and GM requirements to have a tobacco dependence treatment service 
in all inpatient settings 

 Note the improvements in performance being seen under the CURE project and the action 
plans in place to further improve project outcomes 

 Approve the £267k funding to sustain the CURE Tobacco Addiction programme for 
inpatients at Salford Care Organisation 
 

 

2.  Introduction 
 
2.1 Salford has the highest smoking prevalence in Greater Manchester, with almost 1 in 5 people 

still smoking. Whilst rates nationally have dropped in recent years, Salford’s rate is not coming 
down at the required pace to meet the national Smoke Free ambitions of a smoke free 
generation (prevalence below 5%) by 2030. 

 
2.2 The CURE project is a secondary care programme that treats tobacco addiction and 

dependency. It represents a step change in dealing with smokers when compared to existing 
hospital-based stop smoking services, shifting to dealing with smoking as a tobacco addiction 
and working on an opt-out basis therefore aiming to provide intervention to all patients 
admitted who smoke rather than waiting for smokers to opt-in to a smoking cessation service. 

 
2.3 This treatment of tobacco dependency is the single most cost-effective intervention the NHS 

can provide. There are highly effective, evidence-based interventions to treat tobacco 
dependency that include replacing the source of nicotine from smoking tobacco to safe or 
significantly less harmful nicotine delivery mechanisms, medications to break the addiction to 
nicotine in the brain and specialist behaviour change support to help transition away from a 
deep-seated habit. 

 
2.4 The NHS Long Term Plan (LTP) recognises the critical importance of treating dependency in 

the NHS and particularly acute care NHS trusts; it sets out that by 2023/24, all people admitted 
to hospital who smoke will be offered NHS-funded tobacco treatment services. The rollout of 
tobacco dependence treatment services in all inpatient settings is reaffirmed as a priority for 
Integrated Care Systems in the 22/23 NHS Priorities and Operational Planning Guidance. 

Page 57

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/nhs-long-term-plan-version-1.2.pdf
file:///C:/Users/neil.cudby/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/V6QGWFDA/B1160%20-%202022-23%20priorities%20and%20operational%20planning%20guidance_24%20December%202021.pdf


 

    

    
    
     

2.5 CURE is also key part of Greater Manchester’s Tobacco Control Programme, Making Smoking 
History, and is recognised nationally as best practice (referenced in the NHS LTP the National 
Respiratory & Lung Cancer GIRFT reports). The initial pilot was delivered at Wythenshawe 
Hospital and was then rolled out in 2020 across six other acute Trust sites in GM, including 
Salford (commencing August 2020), through the GM Transformation Fund. The project is 
planned to be rolled out to the remaining four sites in 2022. 

 
2.6 The CURE Business Case (Appendix 1) was presented to Adult Commissioning Committee 

(ACC) in September 2021 with a request for support for continued funding. At that time ACC 
expressed some concern that the project was not currently delivering as originally projected 
and a six-month extension was agreed with a further assurance paper required at that time. 

 
2.7 This paper gives an update on performance of the CURE project at Salford Care Organisation, 

aims to provide ACC with assurance that improvements in performance are being seen and 
actions are being undertaken to further improve project outcomes. 

 

3. CURE Project Performance  
 
3.1  The table below summarises the latest performance position for the CURE service at Salford 

Care Organisation and compares 20/21 performance with 21/22 year to date performance. 
 

KPI Target 20/21 
Performance 

(from Aug 20) 

21/22 YTD 
Performance 

(to end Dec 21) 

Trend 

% of adult patients admitted as 
In Patients (IP) with LOS > 1 
day that have smoking status 

recorded 

90% 97% 97%  

% of smokers offered brief 
advice 

90% 100% 100%  

% of smokers referred to the 
CURE team 

90% 100% 100%  

 % of smokers seen face to face 

by the CURE team (remainder 
contacted by phone) 

50% 70% 81%  

% of smokers prescribed 
Nicotine Replacement Therapy 

(NRT) * 

50% 21% 35%  

% prescribed NRT 
within 24 hours of admittance 

30% Not recorded 42%  

% of smokers accepting referral 
to the community stop smoking 

service 

35% 11% 19%  

% of 4 week quits (of those with 
outcome data) from referral to 
community stop smoking service 

** 

35% 23% 49%  

 
*The % of smokers prescribed NRT does not include the 71 patients referred to The Angel and provided 

with vaping k its post-discharge; including these would increase performance to 37%. 
 

** Data on quits from those referred to The Angel are not currently available through the Pharm 

Outcomes data to be fed into this KPI report. 

Page 58



 

    

    
    
     

 
3.2 The CURE service has provided input to a significant number of smokers in the 21/22 year to 

date. 3941 smokers have received intervention, that’s 100% of patients admitted to Salford 
Care Organisation identified as a smoker and represents an average of 438 smokers per 
month. 

 
3.3 An increasing proportion of patients are receiving this intervention face to face despite 

continued waves of the covid pandemic; 81% have had a face-to-face intervention in 21/22 
versus 70% in 20/21. 

 
3.4 Whilst not yet achieving the 50% target, improvements in the proportion of patients being 

prescribed NRT have been demonstrated with 35% of smokers being prescribed in 21/22 
compared with 20/21. It is also evident that this upward trend continues in year with 40% of 
smokers being prescribed NRT in quarter 3 of 21/22 compared with 32% in quarter 1.  

 
3.5 One of the main barriers to NRT provision relates to processes for prescription. Salford Care 

Organisation has developed a protocol that allows for NRT to be provided, after assessment 
by the CURE team, without the need for a prescription. This protocol is currently going through 
NCA governance routes prior to implementation. Once implemented this protocol is expected 
to enable further improvement in the proportion of smokers receiving NRT and the timeliness 
of which they receive this. In addition, it is anticipated that this increased prompt provision of 
NRT will increase the success of the smoking cessation attempt and acceptance of further 
community support after discharge from hospital.                                                                                                                                   

 
3.6 Whilst the rate of smokers accepting referral to community stop smoking services has 

improved from 11% in 20/21 to 19% in 21/22, further work needs to be done in this area to 
achieve the 35% target. A comprehensive discharge pathway has been implemented between 
the hospital and community services in Salford and hospital and community services have 
worked together to devise a standard script for the CURE team to go through with supported 
patient information to explain what the community team offer and encourage uptake.  In 
response to patient feedback, the referral process to the community team has also been 
developed in a way that means that information does not have to be given again by the patient 
to the smoking advisor as this has been relayed by the referrer. 

 
3.7 4 week quit rates (of those with outcome data) have shown an improvement from 23% in 20/21 

to 49% in 21/22. There remain some data quality issues related to the use of the Pharm 
Outcomes system for recording of quit status. In addition, quit status of those referred to The 
Angel have not yet been incorporated into the outcome data. Work is ongoing across the 
hospital and community teams to address these issues and improve data completeness. 

 
3.8 It is apparent from the data that take up of community support after discharge has a significant 

impact on improving quit rates. Therefore, the work to improve uptake of community service 
referral will be key in combination with the work to increase timely NRT provision to achieving 
further improvements in quit rates. 

 
3.9 In summary, performance data demonstrates an overall picture of improvement against key 

performance indicators and where further improvements are required there are clear actions 
being undertaken to further improve project outcomes. 

 
 

Page 59



 

    

    
    
     

4. Service Specification Development / KPI Monitoring 
 
4.1 The original business case presentation to ACC in September described the need for further 

development of the service specification for CURE in Salford. Given the GM rollout of this 
project it has since been agreed that a standardised GM service specification should be 
developed. An initial draft of this specification can be found in Appendix 2 and includes a 
proposed set of standardised KPI’s. This specification is currently out to localities for review 
and comment to inform development of an agreed final version. 

 
4.2 A GM CURE Programme Meeting has also been established which will bring together locality 

commissioners and providers of CURE. This, alongside a standard set of KPI’s, will allow for 
benchmarking of activity and outcomes across GM as well as shared learning to drive 
improvements. 

 
4.3 Should funding to sustain the CURE project in Salford be approved, commissioners will 

continue with a locality process for monthly KPI performance reporting and review which will 
be complemented by the described GM approach. 

 

5. Finance Requirements 
 
5.1 The detailed funding and workforce requirements for the CURE service remain as described 

in the original business case (Appendix 1). 
 
5.2 The annual funding required for CURE in Salford is £266,791; this is broken down as: 

 £129,772 on staffing (2 x Band 3 and 2 x Band 5) 

 £137,069 on pharmacotherapy 
 
5.3 This £267k expenditure has been planned for in locality 22/23 financial plans. 
 
5.4 As previously described, the NHS Long Term Plan commits to offering NHS-funded tobacco 

treatment services to all people admitted to hospital who smoke, by 2023/24. Additional locality 
funding for this has not yet been awarded by NHSE; however, it is expected that this will be at 
ICS level. 

 

6. Risks 
 
6.1 Should there not be support for continued funding of the CURE project, Salford locality would 

not be able to deliver on some of the requirements set out in the NHS LTP and the GM 
Tobacco Control Programme. 

 
6.2 Short term extensions to the project pose a risk to the provider in terms of recruiting and 

retaining staffing that enables service delivery as well as work to improve performance and 
patient outcomes. 

 
6.3 Improved performance of the CURE project will increase NRT provision and community 

referrals; this will impact on pharmacotherapy costs and demand on the Community Stop 
Smoking Service. To date pharmacotherapy costs have been within budget and the 
Community Stop Smoking Service (delivered by the Health Improvement Service) has had 
flexibility in their offer to absorb this demand. 

 

Page 60



 

    

    
    
     

 

7. Recommendations 
 
7.1 The Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to: 

 Note the NHS LTP and GM requirements to have a tobacco dependence treatment 
service in all inpatient settings 

 Note the improvements in performance being seen under the CURE project and 
the actions being undertaken to further improve project outcomes 

 Approve the £267k funding to sustain the CURE Tobacco Addiction programme for 
inpatients at Salford Care Organisation 

 
 
Neil Cudby 
Assistant Director of Commissioning 
Salford CCG 

 
 
 
Appendix 1 – CURE Business Case 

05 - CURE - Tobacco 

Addiction Programme.docx 
 
 
Appendix 2 – Draft GM CURE Service Specification 

GM CURE Service 

Specification 2021-2023 v1.0.docx 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

Adults Commissioning Committee 

8th September 2021 
AGENDA ITEM NO 5 & PAPER NAME: CURE Tobacco Addiction Programme 
 
Item for Decision  
 

Report of: Assistant Director of Commissioning – Salford CCG 

Date of Paper: 19th August 2021 

In case of query, please contact: Samantha Mansfield 
Public Health Strategic Manager 
Samantha.mansfield@salford.gov.uk 
07816 084328 
 

Strategic Priorities:  
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research  
Adult Services  

Children’s and Maternity Services  
All Age Mental Health  

Primary Care  

Enabling Transformation  
Mayoral Priorities: 
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Tackling poverty and inequality  

Reducing Health Inequalities  

Skills and Education (A Learning City)  

Affordable Housing  
Transport and Digital Connectivity  

Tackling the Climate Change Emergency  

Vibrant Place and Spaces  

Creating an Economy for All  
 
Purpose of Paper:                                    

 
The following report provides an overview of the implementation of the CURE tobacco 
addiction programme to date, at Salford Royal Foundation Trust. Followed by a proposal to 
establish a permanent CURE service at Salford Royal with an integrated discharge pathway 
into community smoking cessation services. 
 
The ask of the committee is to approve funding to sustain the CURE Tobacco Addiction 
programme for inpatients at Salford Royal Hospital. 
 
Offer assurances of service improvement throughout the next 12 months and return to the 
committee with an update paper.  

Page 63

mailto:Samantha.mansfield@salford.gov.uk
https://www.salford.gov.uk/cmpriorities


 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

Further information 

How will this benefit the health and wellbeing of 
Salford residents, or the CCG or City Council? 

 
Reducing smoking prevalence saves lives. It 
also improves health, leading to a reduction 
in smoking related disease, then in turn a 
reduction in presentations at Primary Care 
and admissions to Secondary Care. 
 

How does this paper address health inequalities 
and promote inclusion? 

 
Areas with high levels of deprivation, have a 
high smoking prevalence. 
 
The financial ask is to ensure that this service 
is available for all inpatients. 
 

What risks may arise as a result of this paper 
and how will they be mitigated? 

An increase in demand for community-based 
smoking cessation services, upon discharge 
from hospital, could lead to increase costs to 
deliver these services, particularly 
pharmacotherapy costs. This is mitigated by 
reduction in costs for longer term treatment 
services. 
 
There is also an interdependency on the 
budget streams associated with smoking 
cessation services across the city, any 
changes in one will impact the others. 

Does this address any existing high risks facing 
the organisation and how does it reduce them? 

N/A 

Are there any possible conflicts of interest 
associated with this paper? 

No 

Will any current services or roles be affected by 
issues within this paper and what are they? 

SRFT CURE service 

Note: Where appropriate, please ensure detail is provided. 

 

Document Development 

Has there been Public Engagement? No 

Has there been Clinical Engagement? Yes – ICBC 

Page 64



 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

Has the impact on Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally been considered? 

Yes 

Has there been an analysis of any impacts on 
equality? No 

Has legal advice been obtained? No 

Has this been to any groups or committees for 
engagement, comments, or approval?  

Clinical support from Integrated Community 
Based Care Group 

Financial approval at Service and Finance 
Group 

Note: Where relevant, please provide detail and ensure that it is clear how and when particular stakeholders were 
involved in this work, that there is clarity of what the key message/decision was, and whether amendments were 
requested about any part of the work.

Page 65



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

CURE – Tobacco Addiction Programme 
Salford Royal Hospital 

 

1.  Executive Summary 
  

 

Salford has the highest smoking prevalence in Greater Manchester, with almost 1 
in 5 people still smoking. Whilst rates nationally have dropped in recent years, 

Salford’s rate is not coming down at the required pace to meet the national Smoke 
Free ambitions of a smoke free generation (prevalence below 5%) by 2030. 
 

The CURE project is a secondary care programme that treats tobacco addiction. 
The initial pilot was delivered at Wythenshawe Hospital, it was then rolled out across 

all GM sites through the GM Transformation Fund and soon to be nationally through 
the NHS Long Term Plan. 
 

The delivery to date at SRFT has been disrupted due to COVID-19. For example, 
the CBA is based on support given face to face, whereas this was not an option 

when the programme first launched, and support was given over the phone. As a 
result, the outcomes are not meeting the projections, however, we understand this 
to be representative of the picture across GM and work will be undertaken over the 

next 12 months to understand this. 
 

Members of the Adults Commissioning Committee are asked to approve funding for 
the continuation of CURE programme at SRFT, alongside the existing Hospital Stop 
Smoking Service. This is on the basis that the evidence presented in this paper 

takes a whole system approach to tacking tobacco dependency and the assurances 
of the wider work taking place which underpins the longer-term effectiveness of this 

programme. 
 
The CURE funding ask is approved in principle by the GM PEB and is in line with 

the NHS LTP workstream on Treating Tobacco Dependence. 
 

There is also an ask of the group to consider the interdependences of tobacco 
budgets across the system and to consider the impacts of this when making funding 
decisions associated with tobacco control going forward. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

2.  Tobacco addiction – case for change 

 
2.1 Smoking data 

 

 In Salford, smoking prevalence in adults is 19.1%, equating to almost 40,000 people. Salford’s 
rate is the highest of all Greater Manchester localities, the second highest among its 

statistically similar (CIPFA) nearest neighbours and is also significantly higher than the 
England (13.9%) average. There are some wards in Salford where smoking rates are above 
30%. There has been some improvement since 2017, with a 2.1% fall in city wide prevalence 

between 2017 and 2019, however, rates are not dropping at the same rate as other areas. 
 
Figure 1: Smoking Prevalence in Adults, 2011-2019  

 
 
One of the most significant influences on the reduced healthy life expectancy for the people 
of Salford is smoking tobacco. We know that half of all smokers will die from a smoking related 
disease, and many of these deaths will be premature. Salford has a significantly higher rate 
of smoking attributable deaths from heart disease, stroke, lung cancer and COPD1. Between 
2016 and 2018, there were 1,348 deaths attributable to smoking in Salford, a rate of 396.5 per 
100,000, which is significantly higher than the regional and national rate. 
 
2.2 CURE pilot and transformation fund 
 
The CURE project originated as part of Greater Manchester Health & Social Care 
Partnership’s Making Smoking History programme in partnership with GM Cancer. It’s a 
comprehensive secondary care treatment programme for tobacco addiction. Taking a 

                                                                 
1 https ://fingertips.phe.org.uk/static-reports/tobacco-control/at-a-glance/E08000006.html?area-name=Salford  

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

C
u

rr
en

t 
sm

o
ke

rs
 (%

)

Calendar Year

Smoking Prevalence in adults (18+) - current smokers (APS), persons, 
Salford, Greater Manchester, England and CIPFA nearest neighbours

Salford England Greater Manchester CIPFA Nearest neighbours

Page 67

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/static-reports/tobacco-control/at-a-glance/E08000006.html?area-name=Salford


 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

systematic approach to treating tobacco addiction in patients admitted to hospital has been 
shown to reduce mortality, reduce hospital re-admissions and provide financial savings. 
 
The CURE programme identifies all active smokers on admission to secondary care and 
immediately offers pharmacotherapy, such as nicotine replacement therapy (NRT) or 
Varenicline, as well as specialist behavioural support, for the duration of their admission and 
after discharge. 
 
The CURE pilot ran at Wythenshawe Hospital from 1st October 2018 to 31st March 2019. 
Following this a cost benefit analysis was undertaken, this valued the gross financial return on 
investment at £2.12 return per £1 invested, in addition to significant, wider community savings. 
 

CURE Cost Benefit 

Analysis.pdf
 

 
Based on this, the programme received further GM Transformation Fund to roll out across 
Greater Manchester. This was funding for 12 months. The roll out was set to go live on 1st 
April 2020, however, this was delayed due to COVID-19. As a result, CURE went live at SRFT 
in August 2020, albeit with some restrictions still in place. 
 
2.3 Delivery to date 
 
In challenging circumstances, the hospital-based team have significantly increased the 
contact with smokers. 98% of inpatients with a smoking status recorded as ‘current smoker’ 
have been contacted by the CURE team with an offer of smoking cessation support. 24% of 
these patients have been supplied NRT to support their quit attempt, up from 8% as reported 
in 2019’s SRFT National Smoking Cessation Audit. 
 
It’s acknowledged that the data presented (section 5) is not yet in line with projected outcomes. 
Service delivery has been impacted by COVID-19, for example much of the engagement with 
patients has been via phone or text, as the CURE team have not been able to interact face to 
face with a significant number of patients during their hospital stay due to restrictions in access 
to wards due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Furthermore, clinical staff (who are currently 
required to prescribe the pharmacotherapy) have also been under significant pressure 
throughout the pandemic. This has meant the CURE teams opportunities to educate and 
engage with clinicians has been limited. This will have had an impact across all sites and 
collaborative work is set to be undertaken with colleagues across GM to understand the 
impact.  
 
Aside from the data, significant time has been invested by all partners to ensure whole system 
implementation. Dr Matt Evison, Lung Cancer Physician and CURE clinical lead at 
Wythenshawe Hospital noted with regard to the Wythenshawe pilot; “One of the biggest 
challenges we have faced in CURE is the discharge pathway after a hospital admission, 
particularly ensuring ongoing prescription of stop smoking medications” 
 
 

Page 68



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

Based on this learning from the pilot, in Salford a comprehensive discharge pathway has been 
implemented between the hospital and community services (Appendix 1). This has resulted in 
more referrals to community services coming out of Salford Royal than any other hospital in 
GM, this will in turn increase the number of Salford smokers making a quit attempt. Given the 
volume of referrals, the relationship between the hospital-based CURE team and Salford City 
Council’s Health Improvement Service, who deliver the community based specialist stop 
smoking service, has been strengthened. 
 
To enhance our whole system connectivity, Public Health have invested in a digital solution, 
via PharmOutcomes, to facilitate the movement of referrals between services. When the 
patient is discharged the CURE team send a notification via PharmOutcomes to the relevant 
community service to continue the patient’s treatment. There is a contractual requirement to 
action within 48 hours, meaning the patient automatically gets a continuation of behavioural 
support and free at the point of care pharmacotherapy. In addition to the financial investment 
in this pathway there has been a requirement for a strong, collaborative working relationship 
between the CURE Team, Public Health, the Community Stop Smoking Service (Salford 
Health Improvement Service), GM LPC and local pharmacies, the foundations of these 
relationships will only strengthen the service offer going forward. 
 
3. Finance 

 
3.1 The funding for CURE in Salford is £266,791. 
 This is broken down as; 

 £129,772 on staffing (2 x Band 3 and 2 x Band 5) 
 £137,069 on pharmacotherapy 

 
In addition to this, pre-CURE Salford CCG have a contract in place with SRFT to 
provide a Hospital Stop Smoking Service (Service Specification in Appendix 2), at a 
value of £160,163 per annum. This covers staffing and pharmacotherapy but not at a 
defined rate. To date, this has been used to employ 2 x Band 2 and 1 x Band 5 plus 
some pharmacotherapy costs. 
 
The proposal is to combine the CURE staffing (£129,772) and existing Hospital Stop 
Smoking Service funds (£160,163), totalling £289,908 for staff costs. The CURE 
pharmacotherapy budget is £137,069. Therefore, a total cost of £426,977. 

 
3.2 Please note; The NHS Long Term Plan commits to offering NHS-funded tobacco 

treatment services to all people admitted to hospital who smoke, by 2023/24 (Appendix 
3). Local funding has not yet been awarded by NHSE, however, this will be at ICS 
level. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

4. Workforce 

 
4.1 The staffing associated with smoking cessation in Salford Royal would be as 

follows; 
 

 CURE funded; 2 x Band 3 and 2 x Band 5 
 

 Stop Smoking Service; 2 x Band 2 and 1 x Band 6 
- The Band 6 post is an increase from Band 5 in the 

current model based on the proposed amalgamation of 
budget streams and a separate pharmacotherapy 
budget line. This role would manage the team. 

 
SRFT have identified the following costs for this staffing model: 

 
 

Page 70



 

          
       

5. Performance data 

 

Secondary Care 
Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Total 

Total number of adult admissions 3042 3057 3266 3177 3138 3242 3021 3620 3434 3683 32680 

Total number of admissions with smoking status 
recorded includes current smoker, previous smoker, 

stopped on day of current admission 1156 1218 1126 1149 1143 1184 1110 1378 1305 1418 12187 

Total number of admissions with smoking status 
recorded includes current smokers only 487 555 455 436 367 450 433 606 540 514 4843 

Total number of smokers provided with VBA 487 555 455 436 367 450 433 606 540 514 4843 

Total number of smokers contacted by CURE staff 
441 524 455 436 367 450 433 606 540 514 4766 

text/phone               182 110 103 395 

face to face               424 430 401 1255 

Total number of smokers prescribed stop smoking 
pharmacotherapy 64 75 113 112 90 100 99 178 159 153 1143 

Total number of smokers prescribed NRT 63 72 108 108 88 96 97 171 156 151 1110 

Total number of smokers prescribed Varenicline 
1 3 5 4 2 4 2 7 3 2 33 

Total number of patients wanting support after 
discharge but declining NRT as inpatient               181 180 158 519 

Total cost of stop smoking pharmacotherapy 
£8,107 £10,701 £9,106 £7,734 £8,167 £7,149 £8,698 £9,905 £10,005 £11,233 £90,806 

Primary Care 
                      

P
age 71



 

          
       

Total number of smokers accepting referral to 

community service post discharge 54 55 50 33 40 37 41 88 93 106 597 

in area                 82 86 168 

out of area                 11 20 31 

Total number of smokers attending community 
service follow up post discharge 20 36 29 15 18 33 15 36 39 39 280 

Total numbers of smokers self-reporting 
abstinence from tobacco 4 weeks post discharge 6 11 10 3 3 9 3 6 11 17 79 

Total number of smokers self-reporting 

abstinence from tobacco 12 weeks post discharge 

Reported through PharmOutcomes (Pinnacle) – 
delays in this going live due to Pinnacle's role in the vaccine roll out. 4 4 3 11 

P
age 72



 

    

    
    
     

6. Wider system considerations and risks 

 
6.1 The CURE discharge pathway has significant downstream impacts on Public Health costs, as 

once the patient leaves hospital they enter Public Health funded services for both behavioural 
support and pharmacotherapy. 

 
6.2  Due to the volume of referrals the Community Stop Smoking Service has seen an increase in 

demand for services. As an internal Council Service (delivered by the Health Improvement 
Service) there has been flexibility in the offer to absorb this demand. 

 
6.3 Due to the interdependent nature of the multiple budget streams that sit around this 

programme, any financial changes could be a risk to the programme. 
 
 

7. Recommendations 
 
7.1 Adults Commissioning Committee is asked to: 
 

 Approve funding for the CURE programme in Salford, as per the provisional agreement at 
the GM PEB. 

 Combine the budget streams for CURE and SRFT stop smoking service. From patient 
facing perspective, this is already delivered as a single service under the CURE model 
and branding but background approval of this would allow for greater assurance and 
oversight. 

 Allow time for re-drafting of the Service Specification to shape KPI’s around where service 
improvements can be made based on current data and return in 12 months with assurance 
paper. 

 
 
Samantha Mansfield 
Public Health Strategic Manager 
 
 

Appendix 1 - 

CURE Salford 

Smoking Pathway.docx
 

 

Appendix 2 - 

Hospital Stop 

Smoking Service revised Jan 19 wd 3 (3).docx
 

 
 

Appendix 3 - 

NHS Long Term 

Plan Treating tobacco dependence overview.pptx
 

  
 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



 

CURE Programme: Service Specif ication  Page 1 of 12 

 

Greater Manchester CURE Service Specification 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Specification No. v1.0 January 2022 

Service 

 

The CURE Project:  
Tobacco dependency treatment service for patients that smoke 
admitted to acute care NHS trusts in Greater Manchester 
 

Commissioner Lead  

Provider Lead  

Period 1st April 2021 – 31st March 2023 

Date of Review  

Document control  

GM Authors Dr Matthew Evison 
Clinical Lead for The CURE Project and Make Smoking History 
Consultant in Respiratory Medicine 
 
Jane Coyne 
Programme Manager The CURE Project 
Make Smoking History 

Page 75



 

CURE Programme: Service Specif ication  Page 2 of 12 

 

1. The scale of the tobacco tragedy 

 
Tobacco is unique in the severity of its addictive and destructive effects. One in two smokers will die 
prematurely because of smoking-related illness. Smoking tobacco has, therefore, led to approximately 8 
million deaths in the United Kingdom (UK) in the last 50 years and will lead to another 2 million deaths in 
the next 50 years unless radical action is taken.  
 
Smoking tobacco delivers significant levels of nicotine to the brain very rapidly and causes a uniquely 
powerful addiction and chemical dependence to nicotine. This in turn leads to long term inhalation of 
tobacco smoke to satisfy the intense cravings for nicotine. Nicotine, however, is not a major public health 
concern and is NOT responsible for the illness and death resalted to smoking tobacco. The harm of smoking 
is from the 5000 additional chemicals created from the combustion of tobacco.  
 
There are highly effective, evidence-based interventions to treat tobacco dependency that include 
replacing the source of nicotine from smoking tobacco to safe or significantly less harmful nicotine delivery 
mechanisms, medications to break the addiction to nicotine in the brain and specialist behaviour change 
support to help transition away from a deep-seated habit. This treatment of tobacco dependency is the 
single most cost-effective intervention the NHS can provide. The real tragedy of tobacco dependency is 
that despite these highly effective and cost-effective interventions, only 5% of the 6 million current 
smokers in the UK receive access to the best treatment and support.       
 

2. National and regional tobacco control strategy & acute care NHS trusts 
 
2.1 National Strategy 
The NHS Long Term Plan (LTP) recognizes the critical importance of treating dependency in the NHS and 
particularly acute care NHS trusts. On any given day there are approximately 20,000 patients that smoke 
in acute care hospital beds and over 1 million patients that smoke will be admitted over the course of a 
year. The Ottawa Model of Smoking Cessation demonstrated a significant reduction in re -admissions and 
mortality by providing evidence-based interventions to all smokers admitted to secondary care on an opt-
out basis. The Royal College of Physicians estimated that by implementing the same model of care across 
the NHS there would £60 million of health care savings in the first year. The NHS Long Term Plan, therefore, 
is providing national funding to implement tobacco dependency treatment services in all NHS acute care 
trusts for inpatients that smoke.   
 
2.2 Greater Manchester Strategy 
In 2017, the Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership’s Tobacco Control Programme, 
Making Smoking History, published the Greater Manchester Tobacco Control Plan. This set an ambitious 
target to reduce the smoking prevalence across the region to 13% at a rate faster than ever achieved across 
the UK before. Achieving the tobacco control plan objectives will require a structured, multi -faceted 
approach including secondary care tobacco dependency programme.  
The table below shows the top 10 reasons for admission across all GM hospitals in 2017/18 (elective and 
non-elective): 
 

Admission diagnosis Number of 
Admissions 

% Rank 

Pneumonia, unspecified organism 999 3.5% 1 

Abdominal and pelvic pain 715 2.5% 2 
Unspecified acute lower respiratory infection 695 2.4% 3 

Pain in throat and chest 687 2.4% 4 

Chronic ischemic heart disease 558 1.9% 5 
Other chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 492 1.7% 6 

Viral infection of unspecified site 488 1.7% 7 
Acute upper resp infections of multiple and unsp sites 487 1.7% 8 

Page 76



 

CURE Programme: Service Specif ication  Page 3 of 12 

 

Other sepsis 486 1.7% 9 

Other disorders of urinary system 479 1.7% 10 
 
These diagnoses accounted for 21.1% of the total admissions in this period and 15.2% (3,356) are 
attributable to smoking tobacco. 
 
If the benefits achieved in the Ottawa Model of Smoking Cessation were replicated in Greater Manchester 
using a conservative estimation of 20% prevalence of current smokers in the 263,900 adult admissions to 
hospital across per year this would equate to: 
. 

• 3273 readmissions prevented at 30 days 
• 6176 readmissions prevented at 1 year 
• 3141 lives saved in 1 year 
• 18,473 successful quitters in the first year 

 
The 2015 Department of Health Reference Costs state an average non-elective hospital admission costs 
£1609. Therefore, the estimated savings from prevention of readmissions by applying the Ottaw a Model 
to Greater Manchester is therefore £9,937,184 per year. The average length of hospital stay in England is 
5 days (NGS Digital Data 2015-2016. The CURE project is estimated to save 30,880 bed bays per year, 
equivalent to 84 additional beds per day across Greater Manchester 
  
2.3 The CURE Project 
 
The CURE Project is Greater Manchester’s Tobacco Dependency treatment in acute care trusts programme 
and is recognised nationally as best practice (referenced in the NHS Long Term Plan and the National 

Respiratory & Lung Cancer GIRFT reports). 

CURE has core components that must be implemented to be complaint with the CURE service specification: 

 An educational package to upskill the medical workforce to have the competence and confidence 
to provides appropriate advice and pharmacotherapy to patients that smoke  at the point of 
admission (CURE level 1 and CURE level 2 e-learning modules) 

 Electronic recording smoking status for all patients being admitted to hospital  

 A standardised prescribing protocol to support the provision of pharmacotherapy for all smokers 
which have an exceptionally strong evidence base for effectiveness, including a Nicotine 
Replacement Therapy (NRT) prescribing protocol to be initiated at the point of admission for all 
patients that smoke. 

 Dedicated electronic referral systems that provide an opt-out service where all patients that 
smoke are automatically referred to the CURE team to be offered specialist treatment & support 
to be abstinent from tobacco during their admission and beyond.  

 A team of specialist CURE practitioners that provide specialist treatment, support and behaviour 
change on an opt-out basis to all patients that smoke 

 Robust discharge pathways to support smokers beyond the hospital admission, including 
electronic referral systems to community stop smoking services, community pharmacy teams and 
GP practices to provide ongoing support for patients to remain abstinent.  

 Adoption and implementation of the GM Smoke-free Hospital Policy including the distinction 
between smoking and vaping & supporting all smokers to be tobacco free on the hospital site 
(vaping friendly external grounds)   

 Robust data collection to report performance in line with CURE KPIs and RAG rating assessment. 
A key part of this is a 4 and 12 weeks phone call to provide self -reported smoking status to 
supplement outcome data provided by the community services.   
 

Page 77



 

CURE Programme: Service Specif ication  Page 4 of 12 

 

The CURE service at Wythenshawe in its first 6 months of service delivered the following benefits from this 

model of care: 

 92% (13,515/14,690) of adult admissions were screened for smoking status, identifying 2,393 
current smokers 

 96% were given brief advice to quit by the admitting team 

 61% patients completed inpatient behavioural interventions with a specialist CURE practitioner 
(69% within the first 48 hours of admission) 

 66% of smokers were prescribed pharmacotherapy 

 Over one in five of all smokers admitted during this pilot reported that they were abstinent from 
smoking 12 weeks after discharge (22%). 

 

Further health economic analysis of the impact of CURE demonstrated it to be very good value with highly 

significant return on investment (Appendix 2): 

 The cost per quit for the CURE Project pilot was £475 (costs to secondary and primary care)  

 The gross financial return on investment ratio was £2.12 return per £1 invested  
 Cashable financial return on investment ratio was £1.06 return per £1 invested  

 The public value return on investment ratio was £30.49 return per £1 invested 

 The Incremental Cost Effectiveness Ratio (ICER) for the CURE Project pilot was £487 
 The project would still be financially justified even with a quit rate when scaled up of just 10%  

 
Over the course of 2020-2022 the CURE project is being rolled out across all acute care sites in Greater 
Manchester using a combination of cancer transformation funding and national LTP funding.  
 
Wave 1 (2020): 
1. The Royal Oldham Hospital (Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust) 
2. Fairfield General Hospital (Bury) and Rochdale Infirmary (Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust) 
3. Salford Royal Hospital (Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust) 
4. Stepping Hill Hospital (Stockport NHS Foundation Trust) 
5. Tameside General Hospital (Tameside & Glossop Integrated Care NHS Foundation Trust) 
6. Royal Albert Edward Infirmary, Wigan (Wrightington, Wigan & Leigh NHS Foundation Trust 

 
Wave (2020): 

1. Manchester Royal Infirmary (Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust)  
2. North Manchester General Hospital (Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust) 
3. Trafford General Hospital (Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust)  
4. Royal Bolton Hospital  

 

3. Outcomes 

 
3.1 Outcomes Framework Domains & Indicators 
 

Domain 1 Preventing people from dying prematurely X 
Domain 2 Enhancing quality of life for people with long-term conditions X 

Domain 4 Ensuring people have a positive experience of care X 

Domain 5 Treating and caring for people in safe environment and protecting them from 
avoidable harm 

X 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 78



 

CURE Programme: Service Specif ication  Page 5 of 12 

 

3.2 Key Service Outcomes: 
 
Local Key Performance Indictors (with Red-Amber-Green Rating): 
 

Key performance Indicators 
  

Red Rating Amber Rating Green Rating 

Proportion of adult admissions with recorded 
smoking status in electronic platform 

<75% 75-89% ≥90% 

Proportion of patients that smoke provided with 
brief advice  

<75% 75-89% ≥90% 

Proportion of current smokers prescribed tobacco 
dependency pharmacotherapy or provided with 
vaping kit 
 
Provide individual totals / proportions of smokers 
prescribed: varenicline, combination NRT and 
provided with vaping kits.  

<25% 25-49% ≥50% 

Proportion of current smokers approached by the 
CURE specialist team (opt-out model) 

<50% 50-74% ≥75% 

Proportion of current smokers accepting specialist 
support from the CURE team 

<25% 25-49% ≥50% 

Proportion of current smokers referred for post-
discharge follow-up  
 
Provide individual totals / proportions referred to 
community stop smoking service, community 
pharmacy and hospital CURE team FU service (if 
applicable) 

<15% 15-29% ≥30% 

4-week quit rate as a proportion of those with 
outcome data (record proportion of self-reported 
and chemically validated) 

<20% 20-39% ≥40% 

4-week quit rate as a proportion of all smokers 
admitted / intention to treat (record proportion of 
self-reported and chemically validated) 

<10% 10-19% ≥20% 

12-week quit rate as a proportion of those with 
outcome data (record proportion of self-reported 
and chemically validated) 

<15% 15-29% ≥30% 

12-week quit rate as a proportion of all smokers 
admitted / intention to treat (record proportion of 
self-reported and chemically validated) 

<10% 10-14% ≥15% 

 
3.3 Data Reporting  
 
Quarterly performance reports will be submitted to the GM CURE Programme Board, part of the Make 
Smoking History Team. Ultimately tis will be via a GM CURE electronic platform and dashboard. Part of the 
data submission is 4- and 12-week outcome data. Whilst the community service outcomes are important 
and will likely contain chemically validated quit data there is still a responsibility of the hospital CURE team 
to report outcomes. CURE teams will therefore ensure processes are in place to undertake a 4- & 12-week 
post-discharge telephone call to capture self-reported smoking status. This also represents a further 
opportunity to offer re-referral to community services if required.   
 
 
 

Page 79



 

CURE Programme: Service Specif ication  Page 6 of 12 

 

To allow appropriate time for quit rate data to be obtained data submissions will be as follows:  
 

Time  Data Submission 
2022 Q1  

2022 Q2  
2022 Q3 2022 Q1 

2022 Q4 2022 Q2 

  
2023 Q1 2022 Q3 

2023 Q2 2022 Q4 
2023 Q3 2023 Q1 

2023 Q4 2023 Q2 
    

4. Scope 

 
4.1 Aims and objectives of service 
The CURE project is a comprehensive secondary care treatment programme for tobacco addiction.  At its 
heart is systematically identifying all active smokers admitted to secondary care and immediately providing 
nicotine replacement therapy (as well as ensuring access to evidenced-based pharmacotherapy and vaping 
kits) for the duration of the admission. This is supplemented by a consultation with an expert tobacco 
addiction team to construct a long-term treatment plan after discharge.  The term ‘CURE’ has been 
specifically chosen to ‘medicalise’ tobacco addiction and move away from the stigma of a lifestyle choice 

to disease treatment. 

 
Figure 1: The CURE Programme 
 

 
 
Aims and Objectives for Greater Manchester 
 

 To deliver and demonstrate the immediate benefits of a comprehensive acute care NHS treatment 
programme for tobacco dependency, as seen in Ottawa, in a UK population.  

 To support and train the medical workforce to have the competence and confidence to discuss and 
initiate the treatment for tobacco dependency across the healthcare system. 

 Develop and embed a standardised assessment and treatment pathway for smokers admitted to acute 
care trusts, that ensures all patients that smoke have access to the most evidence based and effective 
interventions for tobacco dependency. 

 Appropriately resource the expert specialist nursing teams to see all smokers admitted to secondary 
care and design individualised treatment plan beyond discharge. 

 Deliver a standardised and robust handover of treatment plan to primary care upon discharge. The 
optimal pathway for discharge will be one that provides different options that can be individualised 
for each patient (see figure below). All smokers in Greater Manchester can receive 6 months of free 

Page 80



 

CURE Programme: Service Specif ication  Page 7 of 12 

 

access to the Smoke Free App which can support the discharge pathway after a hospital admission 
(24/7 access to stop smoker practitioners). 

 Support culture change within acute care trusts to embed the treatment of tobacco dependency into 
all medical team’s day-to-day practice. 

 Develop IT systems to support the delivery of this programme. 
 Implement truly smoke free hospital grounds, including as clear distinction between smoking and 

vaping & ensuring that patients that smoke that are using vaping as treatment for tobacco dependency 
are supported to do so on hospital grounds.  

 Report robust outcomes from this regional programme to continue to demonstrate the benefits and 
secure long term, sustainable funding & make the treatment of tobacco dependency business as usual.  

 

Figure 2: CURE Discharge Pathway. Flexible, patient-centred discharge options after a hospital admission 

 

 
Local Objectives: 

 Develop the required IT systems to support electronic screening of all hospital admissions for smoking 
status and facilitate automatic referral to the CURE service for all current smokers (opt-out model) 

 Implement a standardised prescribing protocol and support implementation (e.g. electronic 
prescribing and prompts to admitting clinicians)  

 Develop robust discharge pathways, aligned to the local community follow-up services +/- follow up 
with the hospital CURE service to ensure ongoing treatment is provided beyond discharge . Ensure 
patients can also be supported by the Smokefree App. 

 Develop electronic systems to support the submission of key performance indicators to the GM 
tobacco control system and GM CURE Board.  

 Support culture change within NHS acute care to embed the treatment of tobacco dependency into all 
medical team’s day-to-day practice. 

 Ensure every health care professional has the competence and confidence to offer help to stop 
smoking through direct action and referral. 

 Every patient has access to the best available treatments and expert support to treat this disease . 

 Implement a standardised GM smoke-free hospital grounds policy and switch to vaping friendly 
grounds to support those trying to be abstinent from smoking tobacco 

 Ensure appropriate pathways are in place to capture 4- and 12-weeks outcomes. 

Page 81



 

CURE Programme: Service Specif ication  Page 8 of 12 

 

 Report service outcomes on time and with complete datasets to the GM CURE board 
 
The local objectives will contribute to: 

 Reducing the proportion of adults who smoke across local areas;  
 A reduction in smoking related illnesses and deaths 

 Improving the health of the population by reducing exposure to passive smoke 

 Improving access to and choice of stop smoking services, including access to pharmacological stop 
smoking aids. 

 
4.2 Service description/care pathway 
Patient Pathway 
CURE will contribute to the GM and locality ambition to reduce smoking prevalence by supporting smokers 
who are admitted to hospital to quit.  All patients will be screened for smoking status on admission and 
the outcome recorded within the designated electronic system. All current smokers will be provided Very 
Brief Advice (VBA) and treatment by the admitting nurse or doctor (as per CURE prescribing protocol). The 
CURE Specialist Team will then provide 1-2-1 quit support for all patients who smoke and consent to the 
programme.    
 
The service will include: 
 
Admitting Team 

 Complete initial screening and provide brief advice to current smokers within 24 hours 

 Commence initial treatment for tobacco dependency in line with the CURE prescribing protocol   

 Ensure all patients admitted are referred to specialist CURE team (supported by electronic systems to 
automate this process) 

 If the offer of treatment/pharmacotherapy is accepted by the patient, the admitting team should 
ensure a prescription is completed and medications commenced within 24 hours of admittance.  

 
CURE Specialist Team 
To ensure effective delivery of motivational interviewing, behavioural change support and expert advice 
to smokers during their inpatient admission – this will require a team of specialist tobacco addiction 
clinicians. This team will also: 
 

 Review the effectiveness of initial treatments & prescriptions during their specialist consultation and 
make appropriate adjustments to ensure ongoing effectiveness.  

 Discuss and offer vaping kits as part of the treatment of tobacco dependency with information 
regarding the smoke-free policy (vaping permitted on the external grounds)   

 Ensure all available treatment options have been discussed and offered such as varenicline.  

 Oversee any specialist prescriptions 

 Develop an individualised follow-up plan after discharge including a discussion of different discharge 
support available locally and access to the Smokefree App. 

 

This service will need to be nurse-led. This should include a nursing lead for the service. 

 All patients identified as a smoker to be approached by a CURE practitioner and offered the support 
of the team. This includes a specialist consultation & development of a 1-2-1 treatment plan (target is 
this is completed within 48hrs of admission)  

 Involvement of the nurse-led tobacco addiction team in devising a treatment plan for post discharge. 
Potential options: 
o Referral to the community stop smoking service 
o Referral to community pharmacy tobacco dependency service  
o Ongoing support with the hospital CURE team 
o GP follow-up 

Page 82



 

CURE Programme: Service Specif ication  Page 9 of 12 

 

o Smoke Free Ap[p (free access for GM residents)   

 

The service will also ensure mechanisms are in place to capture 4- and 12- week outcomes. This is most 
likely to be telephone calls to record self-reported smoking status. There must also be established 
mechanisms to ensure data is received back from the community follow-up services on the outcomes of 

patients engaging with their programmes.  

Prescribing Protocol 
All patients should be offered NRT at the point of admission as the qui ckest method for alleviating carvings 
and withdrawal. In line with NICE guidance NRT should always be prescribed as combination NRT (long-

acting patch plus a short-acting form). 

Step 1: Prescribe a long-acting nicotine patch 

 Ask the patient how quickly they smoke from waking up 

 If <30minutes: prescribe a 21mg/24hrs nicotine patch (warn of possible sleep disturbance)  

 If >30minutes: prescribe a 25mg/16hrs nicotine patch 

 

Step 2: Prescribe a short-acting nicotine patch 

 Discuss all options with a patient but ensure they are aware that short-acting nicotine is absorbed 
through the gums – let the nicotine rest in the mouth and absorb.  

 Try to avoid swallowing nicotine which will prevent absorption and cause dyspepsia  

 Nicotine is harmless and therefore the patient cannot overdose on it, but they can under-dose and 
still have cravings for tobacco – use regularly and as much as needed e.g. on the hour every hour 

 

Device Dose Instructions 

Inhalator 15 mg per cartridge > ‘Puff’ on it: absorbed through the gums 
> 10 puffs = 1 puff of a cigarette 

> Use: ‘On the hour every hour’ plus with cravings  

Gum 4 mg per gum > ‘Chew and park’: chew until fiery taste then park  
> Use: ‘On the hour every hour’ plus with cravings  

Lozenge 4 mg per lozenge > Suck like a sweet 
> Chew and park if heartburn, hiccups 

> Use: ‘On the hour every hour’ plus with cravings  

Microtabs 2 mg > Rest under the tongue – don’t chew/swallow 
> Use: ‘On the hour every hour’ plus with cravings  

Mouth spray 1 mg per spray > Spray under tongue, don’t swallow 
> Use: ‘On the hour every hour’ plus with cravings 

Nose spray 0.5 mg per spray  > Spray both nostrils  
> Watery eyes, runny nose, sneezing should settle 
> Use: ‘On the hour every hour’ plus with cravings  

 

Vaping 

Vaping has a very strong evidence base as an effective tool for treating tobacco dependency. It has been 
shown to be twice as effective as NRT (NEJM 2019). It is critical patients with a dependency to tobacco are 

Page 83



 

CURE Programme: Service Specif ication  Page 10 of 12 

 

offered this method of treatment and are supported to do so by an appropriate smoke -free hospital policy 

that allows vaping on the external grounds of the hospital.  

Vaping can be combined with NRT and used alongside each other. The CURE specialist nurses will discuss 

and offer vaping supplies (4 weeks starter kit) to all smokers as part of the specialist consul tation.  

Varenicline  

Varenicline is a highly effective treatment for tobacco dependency. It works on the nicotine receptor in 
the brain to break the addiction to nicotine. It is cheaper and more effective than NRT. All smokers should 

be offered varenicline and it can be prescribed alongside NRT.  

At time of writing this service specification an international recall of varenicline is in place and this 
medication is not currently available and may not be for some time. This highlights the importance of 
ensuring the other most effective interventions for tobacco dependency (vaping and combination NRT 

are readily available for all smokers).  

An alternative to varenicline, a plant-based naturally occurring chemical (cytisine) is currently 
undergoing due process to come to market in the UK and be 10available for patients via prescription. If 
this medication becomes available, the CURE prescribing protocol will be amended, and this service 
specification updated.           

Notes: 

 Prescribers should be aware of this protocol and it will need to be easily accessible as well as 
communicated effectively. 

 Ward pharmacists to be educated on this protocol and be able to advise admitting doctors/nurses.  
 Ensure process in place that checks if appropriate medication has been prescribed on admission by 

ward pharmacists, specialist nurse, tobacco champions. 

 Short acting nicotine should be readily available to the patient to use as required, not locked away  
 
4.3 In scope vs out of Scope 
 
The service will apply/not apply to the following: 
 

In Scope Out of Scope 

Screening and recording of smoking status for 
adults admitted for at least one night to an acute 
care trust 

Assessment of patients in Accident & 
Emergency, Day-case, Paediatrics, Maternity (has 
its own Smoking in Pregnancy programme). 

Initial brief advice and NRT prescription by 
clinical team. Rapid access to NRT 24/7 with 
appropriate ward stocks. 

Identification, assessment or treatment of 
outpatients* 

Specialist assessment and treatment by the 
CURE team on an opt-out basis; medication 
review, vaping offer, behaviour change, 
individualised discharge pathway  

Identification, assessment or treatment of 
outpatients* 

Provision of inpatient and initial discharge 
tobacco dependency pharmacotherapy (as per 
local policy). 

Provision of pharmacotherapy after the initial 
discharge medications** 

4- and 12- week smoking status outcomes & 
complete KPI reporting to GM CURE board 

 

Page 84



 

CURE Programme: Service Specif ication  Page 11 of 12 

 

Development of robust pathways to refer to 
community follow-up programmes (stop 
smoking services, community pharmacy) as well 
as providing all patients with information to 
access the Smoke-free App 

Provision of specialist stop smoking support after 
discharge** 

Delivery of supporting information to patients in 
line with projects delivered in scope of GM 
Tobacco Strategy.  

 

*Local CURE teams may decide within their team capacity, with appropriate business case and service development that the 

provision of outpatient services might be provided accordingly to local requirements  
**Unless the service provides outpatient follow-up after discharge with the ability to provide ongoing medications 

 
Workstreams: 

 Training and educating the medical workforce to have the competence and confidence to discuss and 
initiate tobacco treatment with smokers, signposting to online training programme (levels of training 
based on job role). 

 A standardised assessment and treatment pathway for smokers admitted to secondary care . 
 An expert specialist tobacco addiction nursing team to see inpatient smokers and offer help/advice 

with medication choices, as well as design individualised treatment plans for beyond discharge . 

 Standardised and robust hand-over of treatment plan to primary care upon discharge including access 
to the smokefree app. 

 Culture change within secondary care to embed the treatment of tobacco addiction into identified 
relevant medical team’s day-to-day practice. 

 IT systems to support the delivery of this programme through electronic recording of smoking status, 
automated referral to the CURE service, electronic prescribing, referral to community services and KPI 
reporting. 

 Data completeness for KPI submissions including 4- and 12-week outcomes 
 Smoke-free hospital grounds including vaping friendly policy allowing vaping on the external grounds 

to support abstinence from tobacco.  
 
4.4 Acceptance and exclusion criteria and thresholds 
This pathway is applicable to any patient with a dependency to tobacco in line with the inclusion and 
exclusion criteria. The automated opt-out service should be operational for all adulty admissions although 
in line with NICE guidance the CURE team may accept referrals for patients 12years and older.  
 
Exclusions include: 

 A&E  

 Daycase / Outpatients 

 Paediatric wards (see above – referrals  accepted for age 12 and over but not as part of opt-out CURE 
model for adults described above) 

 Maternity. 

 Members of staff*  

 

*Local CURE services may decide it is appropriate to offer staff treatment through the hospital service & 

future business case and service developments may include the treatment of hospital staff.   

4.5 Interdependence with other services/providers 

 Locality population/public health commissioner and leads for tobacco control. 

 Hospitals across the GM conurbation. 
 GM Cancer CURE project team, part of Make Smoking History regional tobacco programme.  

 All hospital departments (apart from those identified as ‘out of scope’ above). 

 Community smoking cessation services. 
 Primary care (i.e. GPs). 

Page 85



 

CURE Programme: Service Specif ication  Page 12 of 12 

 

 Pharmacy 

 Community Pharmacy 
 
5.  Applicable Service Standards 

 

 NICE Guidelines 2021 (NG209): Preventing uptake, promoting quitting and treating 

dependence  

 Smoking & Health 2021: A coming of age for tobacco control (Royal College of 

Physicians) 

 Hiding in Plain Sight – Treating Tobacco Dependency in the NHS (Royal College of 

Physicians) 

 The NHS contract in England for 2017–2019, which has specified that commissioners 

must agree plans from the provider to maintain a smoke-free hospital estate by 

December 2018 

 Public Health England Statement on E-cigarette use in public places and workplaces 

 NICE PH48 

 Public Health England. E-cigarettes and heated tobacco products: evidence review. 

2018. 

 

 

 

Page 86



 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

Adults’ Commissioning Committee  

09th March 2022 
ITEM NO 6. Finance Report  
 
Item for: Assurance 
 

Report of: Chief Finance Officer 

Date of Paper: 24th February 2022 

In case of query, please contact: Elaine Vermeulen, Interim Chief Finance Officer 

Strategic Priorities:  
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research  

Adult Services 

Children’s and Maternity Services  

All Age Mental Health  
Primary Care  

Enabling Transformation  
Mayoral Priorities: 
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Tackling poverty and inequality  
Reducing Health Inequalities  

Skills and Education (A Learning City)  
Affordable Housing  

Transport and Digital Connectivity  
Tackling the Climate Change Emergency  

Vibrant Place and Spaces  
Creating an Economy for All  

Purpose of Paper:                                    

 
This paper provides the Adults’ Commissioning Committee with an update relating to the 
YTD financial performance and forecast and associated risks to the financial plan of the 
Adults Integrated Fund for 2021/22.  

Page 87

Agenda Item 6

https://www.salford.gov.uk/cmpriorities


 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

Further information 

How will this benefit the health and wellbeing of 
Salford residents, or the CCG or City Council? 

Ensuring public funding is spent 
appropriately.  Achieving Value for Money, 
ensuring that funding is available to protect 
core services. 

How does this paper address health inequalities 
and promote inclusion? 

Financial and performance pressures 
associated with the adults’ integrated fund 
services. Through management of committed 
developments and holding providers to 
account for performance. 

What risks may arise as a result of this paper 
and how will they be mitigated? 

 

Does this address any existing high risks facing 
the organisation and how does it reduce them? 

 

Are there any possible conflicts of interest 
associated with this paper? 

N/A 

Will any current services or roles be affected by 
issues within this paper and what are they? 

N/A 

Note: Where appropriate, please ensure detail is provided. 

 
Document Development 

Has there been Public Engagement? N/A 

Has there been Clinical Engagement? N/A 

Has the impact on Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally been considered? 

N/A 

Has there been an analysis of any impacts on 
equality? N/A 

Has legal advice been obtained? N/A 

Has this been to any groups or committees for 
engagement, comments, or approval?  

Elements have been reviewed by the Service and 
Finance Group 

Note: Where relevant, please provide detail and ensure that it is clear how and when particular stakeholders were 
involved in this work, that there is clarity of what the key message/decision was, and whether amendments were 
requested about any part of the work.

Page 88



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

Finance Report 
 

1.  Executive Summary 
   
 
This finance report provides the Adults’ Commissioning Committee (ACC) with an in-year 
update in relation to the financial performance of the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund.  
 
At January 2022, the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund is currently forecasting to be 
overspent by £2.6m. The last report forecast an overspend of £3.0m, an improvement in the 
position by £0.4m.  
 
At £2.6m, the Adult’s fund would be £0.6m underspent against the planned deficit of £3.2m. 
 
Section 2 – Highlights the YTD and Forecast of the adults integrated fund up to January 

2022 with a projected £2.6m overspend for the year against a planned opening adults’ 
pressure of £3.2m. The main movements are summarised below.  
 

 (£0.5m) reduction in committed developments 
 (£0.1m) reduction in CHC and FNC packages of care. 

 
These are offset by: 

 £0.1m increased costs relating to Acute services 
 £0.1m increased costs relating to Community services 

 
Section 3 – Provides an update on the investment decisions made as part of the Adults’ 

plan for 2021/22. 
 
Section 4 – Gives an update on 2022/23 planning and the current assumptions and aims 

for each of the integrated funds. 
 
ACC is asked to note the financial position along with the requirement to deliver on the 
savings programme for the Adults’ Integrated Fund in 2021/22. 
 

 
 

2. Integrated Fund 2021/22 
 
2.1  This latest finance report provides the Adults’ Commissioning Committee (ACC) with 

the forecast position of the adults’ element of the Integrated Fund for the financial year 
(2021/22).  The appendices normally contain further detail, but it should be noted, due 
to the majority of contracts remaining on block for 2021/22 these appendices have 
been removed for this year as they provide detail on activity which is not currently being 
reported. This finance report is based on information up to the end of January 2022.  
The Service and Finance Group (SFG) have scrutinised the position and agreed to the 
key messages. 

 
2.2 The forecast position for 2021/22 at January 2022 is an overspend of £2.6m, against 

a planned overspend of £3.2m for the adults’ integrated fund. There has been a £0.4m 
net favourable movement in the forecast since the last report, as shown in Table 1 
below: 

Page 89



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

Table 1: 2021/22 Financial Summary 

 
2.2.1 Customer & Client Receipts - As part of regular monitoring of the income undertaken 

by local authority colleagues there has been no movement in client income since the 
last report. The level of client income is still viewed as much lower than expected and 
is not anticipated to significantly improve in the last two months of the year.  Additional 
staffing capacity has now been provided to enable more rapid completion of financial 
assessments, so this position is expected to improve over time. 

 
2.2.2 Acute Services – There have been further cost increases due to more activity being 

seen in non-contracted areas. 
 
2.2.3 Community Services – There has been increased diagnostic activity in the last few 

months as providers work to clear the backlog in patient demand.  
 
2.2.4 Continuing Health Care & Funded Nursing Care – There has been a further 

reduction in the number of care packages since the last report resulting in a small 
favourable movement. 

 
2.2.5 Committed Developments – Due to a review of all remaining investments it is clear 

further slippage will occur as some schemes have been delayed due to COVID or 
recruitment resulting in a £0.5m favourable movement since the last report. Section 3 
of this report provides more detail on investments.  

 

Page 90



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

2.2.6 Adult Social Care (ASC) - Although ASC is forecast to breakeven the provider is 

projecting a £1.9m overspend by the end of 2021/22. Previously we have employed a 
50/50 risk share with the provider on overspends. However it has been agreed with 
SCO that commissioners will only contribute 50% to the opening risk of £1.3m and this 
has been transacted in the contract, so there is no further risk for commissioners in 
2021/22. 

 
2.3 Based on the current assumptions and the available funding, the requirement to 

achieve financial balance within Adult’s remains a savings target in year of £3.2m 
recurrently to be achieved. 

     

3. Strategy and Investments 

 
3.1 An amount of £9.8m was set to be invested in 2021/22 within Adults’ services on new 

or enhanced services across several areas at the start of 2021/22, below is an update 
on the remaining investments at January 2022 as shown in table 3 below. 

 
3.2 Investments of £8.5m have already been transferred into new or enhanced services at 

January 2022. A further £0.1m is forecast to be transacted by the end of March 2022. 
 
Table 3: Adults’ Investment Fund Summary 2021/22 
 

 
 
3.3 Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS) - Several schemes haven’t materialised 

and has resulted in slippage. However, in order for the standard to be achieved for the 
CCG to meet its target for 2021/22 further spend has been identified non-recurrently 
to utilise the slippage, any remaining slippage after achievement of the target has been 
utilised to offset the overall adults’ pressure for 2021/22. 

 

Page 91



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

3.3 Mayoral Priorities – All adult social care (ASC) funding has now been passed to the 
provider for real living wage and pay inflation etc. The contingency of £0.6m has also 
been passed to the provider non-recurrently to mitigate any further pressure affecting 
the fund in 2021/22. Commissioners will review the pressure again in 2022/23 
planning. 

 
3.4 Other – All these investments have now been reviewed by commissioners a further 

£0.5m of slippage has been released due to delays in schemes being started in year. 
This slippage will be used to offset the overall pressure within the adults’ fund for 
2021/22. Where committed investments have slipped in this year, they will be included 
in the draft 2022/23 plan which has yet to be approved. 

 
4.  2022/23 Financial Planning 

 
4.1 The locality is currently going through detailed financial planning for 2022/23 with 

colleagues from Salford CCG, Salford Council and Salford Care Organisation 
regarding the integrated fund. With changes to the commissioning landscape with the 
demise of CCG’s and formation of Integrated Care Boards, it makes the process more 
complicated and high-level assumptions are having to be made including the type of 
spend that will still be the responsibility of locality and so within the integrated fund. As 
a result, the amount of the integrated fund is expected to reduce to circa £350m from 
its current level of £660m. 

 
4.2 The current position is that the locality is working on the basis that the integrated fund 

will be no greater than the £6.1m opening deficit to commissioners which was 
affordable to the CCG and council and their respected contributions to that deficit. 
There is currently a £4.2m increase to this deficit but partners are working on any 
recurrent and non-recurrent schemes that will reduce this to the planned opening 
deficit of £6.1m from 2021/22. 

 

5. Risks 
 
5.1 Recurrent underlying financial pressure on the fund and the impact that could have on 

the localities ability to deliver its strategic objectives. 
 
5.2 Increased financial pressures because of winter or a significant rise in the cases of 

COVID. 
 
5.3 The risk of the transition of statutory responsibility from CCGs to the Integrated Care 

System and any consequential revision of allocation methodologies. 
 

6. Recommendations 
 
6.1 The Adults’ Commissioning Committee (ACC) is asked to: 
 

 Note the financial position for 2021/22. 

 Note the process for 2022/23 planning and current high-level position. 

 The risks outlined in section 5 above. 
 
 
Elaine Vermeulen 
Interim Chief Financial Officer, Salford CCG 
 

Page 92



 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

 

NAME OF MEETING Adult Commissioning Committee 

DATE OF MEETING 9th March 2022 
AGENDA ITEM NO 7: Urgent and Emergency Care Delivery Board Update 
 
Item for: Information  
 

Report of: Senior Service Improvement Manager – Urgent 
Emergency Care 

Date of Paper: 25/02/22 

In case of query, please contact: Stephen Tilley  
Stephen.tilley@nhs.net    

Strategic Priorities:  
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research X 

Adult Services X 
Children’s and Maternity Services X 

All Age Mental Health X 
Primary Care X 

Enabling Transformation X 
Mayoral Priorities: 
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Tackling poverty and inequality  

Reducing Health Inequalities X 
Skills and Education (A Learning City)  

Affordable Housing  

Transport and Digital Connectivity  
Tackling the Climate Change Emergency  

Vibrant Place and Spaces  
Creating an Economy for All  

Purpose of Paper:   
                                  

To update the Adult Commissioning Committee on the activity, challenges, performance 
and developments in the Urgent Emergency Care services in the Salford locality.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Further information 

Page 93

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Stephen.tilley@nhs.net
https://www.salford.gov.uk/cmpriorities


 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

How will this benefit the health and wellbeing of 
Salford residents, or the CCG or City Council? 

Salford Patients will be able to access more 
appropriate services to support their clinical 
condition   
 

How does this paper address health inequalities 
and promote inclusion? 

Paper is for information only 

What risks may arise as a result of this paper 
and how will they be mitigated? 

N/A 

Does this address any existing high risks facing 
the organisation and how does it reduce them? 

Reducing overcrowding in Salford’s 
Emergency Department and protecting staff 
and patients exposure to COVID-19 

Are there any possible conflicts of interest 
associated with this paper? 

N/A 

Will any current services or roles be affected by 
issues within this paper and what are they? 

N/A 

Note: Where appropriate, please ensure detail is provided. 

Document Development 

Has there been Public Engagement? N/A 

Has there been Clinical Engagement? N/A 

Has the impact on Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally been considered? 

N/A 

Has there been an analysis of any impacts on 
equality? N/A 

Has legal advice been obtained? N/A  

Has this been to any groups or committees for 
engagement, comments, or approval?  N/A 

Note: Where relevant, please provide detail and ensure that it is clear how and when particular stakeholders were 
involved in this work, that there is clarity of what the key message/decision was, and whether amendments were 
requested about any part of the work.

Page 94



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

Urgent and Emergency Care Delivery Board Update 
 
1.  Executive Summary 

   

 
This paper provides an update on work programmes relating to Urgent & Emergency Care 
as well as outlining performance against relevant NHS Constitutional Standards. 
 

 
2.  Emergency Department 

 
2.1 Performance against the 4 hour 95% standard for Accident and Emergency (A&E) at 

Salford Royal Foundation Trust (SRFT) has been below target in 2021/22 (approx. 
62.12% unvalidated April 2021 – January 2022 ytd) and places us 7th overall in 
performance across Greater Manchester (GM). This is lower than the same period in 
2020/21 (approx. 82.8%).  

 
2.2 With pressure being felt right across GM A&E performance for Salford CCG patients 

attending any A&E is also estimated to have remained below the 95% standard; 
c.64.9% (unvalidated) up to January 22 year to date. This is down on the same period 
in 2020/21 (approx. 82.69%). 

 
2.3 SRFT saw Type 1 A&E attendance increase for most of this year, though the period 

April 21 to January 22 has seen attendance running at slightly less than pre COVID 
levels. These numbers would have been higher if patients had not been steamed away 
from A&E to more suitable services through the Pre-Emergency Department (ED) 
Registration Streaming.  

            
 
2.4 SRFT have continued to be impacted throughout the year by the challenges of Covid-

19 and measures that have been put in place to develop hot and cold areas in the 
hospital to separate Covid-19 and non Covid-19 patients. We have seen small 
increases in 12 Hour trolley waits since September but in January 22 we saw the 
number of reportable 12hr trolley waits increase to 155. A review of all incident reports 
submitted for ED in January was undertaken to assess potential harm. Excluding those 
which were reported purely for breaching the 12hr standard, there were 2 patients who 
breached the 12hr wait standard who had an incident reported. The first came to no 
harm and was related to discharge destination, the second was low harm. 

Page 95



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

2.5 A further key driver of performance has been high levels of bed occupancy at SRFT 
which, excluding specialist beds, has been consistently above 90% and in recent 
months above 98%. There has been a high number of beds occupied by ‘super 
stranded’ patients (who have been in hospital over 21 days) and No Right to Reside 
(NRTRs) patients, due to discharge delays. This is, in part, due to significant workforce, 
and therefore capacity deficits, within domiciliary care and care homes. More than 40% 
of the No Right To Reside delays are for non-Salford residents. There are also delays 
in repatriations to other NHS provider organisations from specialist beds.  

 
2.6 High bed occupancy and lack of outflow to all specialities results in patients having a 

longer length of stay in ED. We saw a corresponding increase in the number of patients 
spending more than 12hrs in the department. In January 22, 1087 patients attending 
A&E had to wait for over 12 hours to be dealt with. In January 21 this number was 195 
patients. The minors area has regularly been utilised to support the management of 
majors patients to maintain patient safety; however, this can lead to longer waits for 
lower acuity patients. Along with this we have seen considerable workforce gaps due 
to both covid / contact isolation and other sickness absence in both our nursing and 
medical staff groups further exacerbating the departments difficulties.  

 
2.7 The Same Day Emergency Care (SDEC) programme has a focus to reduce 

admissions and a fortnightly working group is in place with representation from the 
speciality services. Engagement is good with teams actively seeking ways to support 
same day treatment for their appropriate patients. Estate is a challenge. A Criteria To 
Admit review is underway to identify more appropriate alternative clinical pathways for 
patients who have been admitted and ultimately implement its findings to aid flow. The 
Home First transformation programme continues to progress and with that should 
come improved flow through the hospital which will contribute to the reduction 
overcrowding and long waits in the department 

 
2.8 The recently opened specialist mental health area at SRFT is helping with mental 

health presentations at A&E with appropriate clinical support. The Emergency Care 
Listening Lounge at the Hollybank community facility in Eccles has also become fully 
operational since December 2021 allowing for a more appropriate pathway for on the 
day mental health presentations. An   

 
2.9 Pre-Emergency Department (ED) Registration Streaming - Since 24/08/20 Salford 

has been operating a Pre-ED Registration Service from 8am to 8pm, 7 days a week 
and more recently 8am to 10pm. Initially the service was only for adult patients but 
paediatric pathways have been tested and included since 18th October 2020. 
Additional streaming capacity has been added in times of pressure for this service over 
winter.  Every patient that self presents to the ED is expected to be seen by a senior 
Band 7 nurse to assess their suitability for booking into the ED or Salford’s local clinical 
assessment service (LCAS). Since the service began, 24262 patients have been 
directed to the LCAS with 1610 of that number streamed in January 22. We continue 
to explore other services that connect directly with this service to ensure patients are 
booked in or directed to, the most appropriate service. On average only 3.45% of those 
streamed are directed into ED.  Two Patient Experience programmes have been 
undertaken and a third is planned. The first two programmes have received extremely 

Page 96



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

positive results from the patients using the service with the majority of patients rating 
the service as good or very good.   

 
2.10 Call Before you Attend – this programme went live on 22/10/20 and operates a 24/7 

service. Using an agreed list of dispositions, calls to NHS 111 will trigger the redirection 
of information to Salford’s LCAS. The LCAS will then contact the patient within an 
allotted time. The LCAS  aims to support self-management where possible, offer 
advice and guidance, convert care from unplanned into planned if safe to do so and 
direct patients, when required, into the most appropriate services, ideally on a booked 
basis. With the LCAS’ local knowledge of services and established connections to 
other providers, patients can be quickly and appropriately directed to a clinical service. 
The service has taken 8692 calls, of which only 20% were redirected to the ED while 
others were directed to more appropriate services or supported with self-care.   

 
2.11  Direct Booking into the ED from NHS 111 - Since 01/12/20 Salford has facilitated 

an option where, if necessary and appropriate, NHS 111 can book directly into SRFT’s 
ED, giving the patient an approximately timed appointment. 2084 patients have been 
booked in using this service since April 2021. A Memorandum of Understanding has 
been agreed and signed off between NHS 111 and SRFT which ensures that the 
appropriate processes and IT are in place to facilitate this option safely.  

 
3. NHS 111 

 
3.1 The CCG continues to monitor and feedback comments relating to quality to NHS 

Blackpool CCG who are the lead commissioner for the service. 
  
3.2 The two key North West Ambulance Service (NWAS) NHS 111 Key Performance 

Indicators (KPIs) are: 
 • Calls answered (Target 95% in 60 seconds) 

• Calls abandoned (Target <5%)  
 
3.3 Performance in 2021/22 has been reported as follows:  
 

NWAS Performance 

 Target Period Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

Of all calls 

offered % 
abandoned 
after at 
least 30 

seconds 

<5% 

2020/21 23.0% 10.1% 5.9% 3.4% 6.8% 22.9% 28.8% 9.0% 14.4% 7.5% 16.0% 41.2% 

2021/22 7.7% 13.7% 21.2% 29.4% 22.3% 31.1% 32.0% 27.7% 24.5%  22.4%      

Of calls 
answ ered 
% in 60 
seconds  

95% 
2020/21 52.3% 65.5% 75.4% 83.2% 69.6% 39.6% 23.8% 63.1% 65.8% 73.9% 60.4% 47.1% 

2021/22 62.0% 46.0% 32.9% 25.6% 32.6% 27.0% 24.38% 27.4%  36.2% 34.2%      

 
3.4 Abandonment rates have been challenging for most of the year with NHS 111 volumes 

increasing across the Northwest. In January 22 across the whole of the Northwest 
service, there were 143,580 calls compared to 114,566 in the previous year. These 
high volumes have been reflected throughout the year.  We continue to work with NHS 
Blackpool CCG to monitor and support solutions to these issues.   

Page 97



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

 
3.5 NHS 111 call activity from the Salford CCG population in 2021/22 was as follows: 
 

Salford CCG Apr 
21 

May 
21 

June 
21 

July  
21 

Aug 
21 

Sept 
21 

Oct  
21 

Nov 
21 

Dec 
21 

Jan 
22 

 
Calls Triaged 
 

 
5429 

 
5989 

 
4915 

 
4760 

 
4650 

 
4460 

 
4702 

 
4731 

 
5010 

 
4650 

Total 

Ambulance 
Dispatched   

 
636 

 
687 

 
543 

 
485 

 
501 

 
428 

 
424 

 
452 

 
517 

 
476 

Recommended 
to Attend A&E 
 

 
749 

 
712 

 
622 

 
571 

 
551 

 
497 

 
528 

 
541 

 
501 

 
547 

Recommended 

to Attend 
Primary Care/ 
Community 

 
3347 
 

 
3493 

 
2742 

 
2704 

 
2671 

 
2594 

 
2754 

 
2747 

 
2972 

 
2634 

Recommended  
To Attend 

Other Service 

 
105 

 
 87 

 
70 

 
84 

 
73 

 
55 

 
86 

 
77 

 
93 

 
73 

Not 
Recommended 
to Attend   

 
1092 

 
1010 

 
938 

 
916 

 
854 

 
886 

 
910 

 
914 

 
927 

 
860 

 
Data source: NWAS Ambulance Reporting Portal – NHS 111 Monthly CCG Reports  

 

3.6 After a surge in April and May the number of calls this year have remained relatively 
steady with an average of 11.8% of calls referred to A&E between April 21 and January 
22. The service continues to connect patients with appropriate services in primary and 
community care where possible.   

 
4. Emergency Ambulance Service 

 
4.1  NWAS follow the national Ambulance Response Programme (ARP). The categories of 

ambulance call are as follows: 
 
4.2 Category 1 - Time critical and life threatening events requiring immediate intervention, 

such as cardiac arrest or respiratory arrest; airway obstructions and ineffective 
breathing. NWAS aims to respond to these calls within an average time of 7 minutes 
and at least 9 out of 10 times (90th percentile) within 15 minutes.  

 
4.3 Category 2 - Potentially serious conditions that may require rapid assessment, urgent 

on-scene clinical intervention/treatment and / or urgent transport. These conditions 
include probable heart attacks, strokes, and major burns. NWAS aims to respond to 
these calls within an average time of 18 minutes and at least 9 out of 10 times within 
40 minutes.  

 

Page 98



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

4.4 Category 3 - Urgent problem (not immediately life-threatening) that needs treatment to 
relieve suffering (e.g. pain control) and transport or assessment and management at 
scene with referral where needed within a clinically appropriate timeframe. These 
conditions include burns (not major); non-emergency late pregnancy/childbirth 
problems; uncomplicated diabetic hyper/hypoglycaemia; not immediately at risk drug 
overdoses; non-emergency injuries; abdominal pain. Mortality rates are very low or 
zero; there is evidence to support alternative pathways of care. NWAS aims to respond 
to these calls at least 9 out of 10 times within 120 minutes. 

 
4.5 Category 4 - Problems that are not urgent but need assessment (face to face or 

telephone) and possibly transport within a clinically appropriate timeframe. NWAS 
aims to respond to these calls at least 9 out of 10 times within 180 minutes. 

 
4.6 ARP performance for 2021/2022 was as follows: 
 

ARP Indicators Target Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 July-21 Aug-21 Sept-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21  Jan-22 

Category 
1 

Life 

threatening 
(mean 
response 
time) 

00:07:00 00:07:29 00:07:51 00:08.19 00:09:02 00:08:42 00:09:12 00:09:14 00:08:50 

 

 
00:09:05 

 

 
00:08:31 

Life 

threatening 
(90th 
percentile) 

 
00:15:00 

 
00:12:44 

 
00:13:19 

 
00:14:03 

 
00:15:26 

 
00:14:52 

 
00:15:35 

 
00:15:33 

 
00:14:55 

 

 
00:15:17 

 

 
00:14:32 

Category 
2 

Emergency 
(mean 

response 
time 

 

00:18:00 

 

00:23:52 

 

00:27:13 

 

00:38:15 

 

00:56:16 

 

00:49:05 

 

00:57:126 

 

02:28:44 

 

01:45:31 

 
 

01:06:43 

 
 

00:43:37 

Emergency 
(90th 
percentile) 

00:40:00 00:48:25 00:53:30 01:17:58 02:03:02 01:45:47 02:06:26 02:28:44 01:01:20 
 

02:33:58 
 

01:41:35 

Category 

3 

Urgent 
(90th 

percentile) 

02:00:00 03:13:46 04:25:40 07:53:55 10:20:10 08:06:09 09:25:36 10:27:54 0712:57 
 

10:57:11 
 

05:39:43 

Category 
4 

Less 
Urgent 
(90th 
percentile) 

 
03:00:00 

 
06:11:42 

 
09:18:23 

 
13:39:32 

 
16:34:52 

 
14:27:21 

 
16:35:10 

 
16:50:18 

 
13:01:48 

 
 

19:10:59 

 
 

11:07:52 

 

 

4.7 To address this situation NWAS have introduced 3 system led initiatives which are 
improvements in hospital turnaround times, improvement in mental health pathways 
and improvements to Alternative Care Pathways/Directory of Service/Service Finder. 
There are also 3 NWAS led initiatives which are additional Double Crewed ambulance 
availability, reduced conveyance by increasing Hear & Treat and See & Treat services 
and a reduction in lost ambulance hours. These initiatives have been supported by 
additional funding from NHSE.  The Greater Manchester Health and Social Care 
Partnership (GMHSCP) continues to work closely with NWAS to improve performance 
against the ARP targets. 

 
4.8 The average handover time in Salford for 2020/21 (April to November) is 31 minutes 

(unvalidated) which is the best in Greater Manchester and one of the best in the North 
West. This has been possible with the introduction of a new ED ISAT (immediate see 
and treat) area has opened which has two functions; to quickly offload non-standby 

Page 99



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

ambulances, reducing handover delays and supporting rapid turnaround. The CCG is 
working closely with the Trust and NWAS to maintain the progress that has been made.  

 
 
5. Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC) 

 
5.1  Covid-19 continues to pose significant and ongoing challenges to how we maintain a 

stable adult social care provision against a backdrop of:  
 

 Care homes closing due to COVID 

 Reduced care staff numbers due to COVID isolation  

 An increased number of people on the care finding list and a gap in the weekly 
home care hours that cannot be met at this time  

 The number of adult social care staff (employed within the NCA) who are 
COVID positive  

 Increased pressure across all acute hospitals (where Salford residents are 
receiving support) with a specific focus on increased numbers of people 
attending A&E, critical care units running near or above staffing capacity, 
increased numbers of people who are unable to return to home due to 
challenges within the ASC commissioned service and increased numbers of 
staff unable to work due to self-isolating.   

 
5.2 In response there are three areas that are being focused on. These are Hospital Flow, 

Availability of Community Packages and Availability of Community Discharge To 
Assess beds. Each of these areas has a programme of initiatives to support their aims 
and a recognised senior lead in each area to ensure that the initiatives progress in an 
appropriate and timely manner.    

 
 
6. Patient Transport Services (PTS) 

 
6.1  NWAS are the current provider of PTS for Greater Manchester. The service has been 

greatly affected by the challenges NWAS faces due to Covid-19 and the resulting 
reduction in face to face outpatient appointments with our key providers. This has 
resulted in the criteria for the service having to change on several occasions 
throughout the year. The CCG has been assured that every effort has been made to 
deliver an appropriate service for our patients and help from the third sector (e.g. Black 
Cab support for patients, private ambulance firms etc) and initiatives from our providers 
(e.g. Take Home and Tuck Up programme) have greatly supplemented these core 
PTS services. PTS Due to the pandemic and the need for NWAS to release capacity 
it was agreed that NWAS would pause the collection and publication of statistics 
relating to PTS. 

  
6.2 The GMHSCP continues to review PTS requirements and ever changing 

clinical/operational priorities caused by Covid-19 and increased pressure on behalf of 
CCGs. 

 

Page 100



 

  

  
  
  
  

  
  
   

 
7. Recommendations 

 
 
7.1 The Adult’s Commissioning Committee is asked to note the contents of this report.  
 
 
 
Stephen Tilley 
Senior Service Improvement Manager - Urgent Emergency Care  

 
 

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

NAME OF MEETING ADULTS COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE 

DATE OF MEETING 9th March 2022 
AGENDA ITEM 8 PAPER NAME: Public Health Commissioning 
 
Item for: Assurance 
 

Report of: Director of Public Health  

Date of Paper: 28 February 2022 

In case of query, please contact: Dr Muna Abdel Aziz 
Muna.abdelaziz@salford.gov.uk 

Strategic Priorities:  
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research  

Adult Services x 
Children’s and Maternity Services  

All Age Mental Health  
Primary Care  

Enabling Transformation  
Mayoral Priorities: 
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Tackling poverty and inequality  
Reducing Health Inequalities x 

Skills and Education (A Learning City)  
Affordable Housing  

Transport and Digital Connectivity  
Tackling the Climate Change Emergency  

Vibrant Place and Spaces  
Creating an Economy for All  

Purpose of Paper:                                    
 
This report outlines the current status of the Public health commissioned services. It is an 
overview for assurance and there are no decisions to be taken within the report. 
 
The Adults Commissioning Committee are asked to: 

 Note the 2021/22 report for commissioned public health services in the context 
of living with and recovering from COVID. 

 Note the proposed workplans for services in 2022/23 
 
 

 
Further information 

How will this benefit the health and wellbeing of 
Salford residents, or the CCG or City Council? 

 
The role of the Director of Public Health and 
the core Public Health team is to champion 
health and wellbeing, lead and influence work 
across partners to improve and protect 
health, to set priorities and monitor progress 
towards reducing inequalities. 
 

Page 103

Agenda Item 8

https://www.salford.gov.uk/cmpriorities


 

   
 

 

    
    
    
     

How does this paper address health inequalities 
and promote inclusion? 

Service specifications and Key performance 
indicators for commissioned services refer to 
the Public Health Outcomes Framework with 
programmes in place for service users and 
clients, especially those most disadvantaged. 

What risks may arise as a result of this paper 
and how will they be mitigated? 

Risks relating to individual services are 
monitored as part of the contract 
management and reported accordingly. 

Does this address any existing high risks facing 
the organisation and how does it reduce them? 

The paper describes service continuity during 
the pandemic and next steps. 

Are there any possible conflicts of interest 
associated with this paper? 

The paper does not include decisions to be 
taken.  

Will any current services or roles be affected by 
issues within this paper and what are they? 

No. Decisions on commissioned services are 
taken through the appropriate route including 
Procurement Panel. 

Note: Where appropriate, please ensure detail is provided. 

Document Development 

Has there been Public Engagement? No 

Has there been Clinical Engagement? No 

Has the impact on Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally been considered? 

No 

Has there been an analysis of any impacts on 
equality? No 

Has legal advice been obtained? No 

Has this been to any groups or committees for 
engagement, comments, or approval?  No 

Note: Where relevant, please provide detail and ensure that it is clear how and when particular stakeholders were 
involved in this work, that there is clarity of what the key message/decision was, and whether amendments were 
requested about any part of the work.

Page 104



 

    

    
    
     

Public Health Commissioning 
 

1.  Executive Summary 

   
 
This report to Adults Commissioning Committee is for assurance, outlining the current 
status of the public health commissioned services and workplans for 2022/23. 
 
The report covers the commissioned services that are part of the integrated pool and those 
that are in view relating to public health and prevention. 
 
Integrated sexual health and substance misuse contracts are due to be reviewed and 
renewed in 2022/23. Sexual health Local enhanced services in primary care are part of the 
Salford Standard and public health services are also being delivered by pharmacies. 
 
The core public health team in the council and health improvement service are delivering 
prevention services across the life course. There are spotlights on healthy ageing, physical 
activity and oral health.  
 
The Adults Commissioning Committee are asked to: 

 Note the 2021/22 report for commissioned public health services in the context 
of living with and recovering from COVID. 

 Note the proposed workplans for services in 2022/23 
 

 

2.  Integrated substance misuse services 
 
Salford commissions an integrated drug and alcohol treatment and recovery service collaboratively 
with Bolton and Trafford Councils.  The brand name of the service is Achieve Bolton Salford and 
Trafford. Salford is the lead commissioner for this contract.  
 
 
2.1 The service 

Achieve Bolton, Salford and Trafford Treatment and Recovery Services brings together staff from a 
range of organisations, backgrounds and experience to deliver services, opportunities, treatments 
and therapies for people seeking help in tackling their own drug or alcohol use, or that of a loved 
one. This is a lead provider model with Greater Manchester Mental Health NHS Trust (GMMH) 
being the lead and together the partnership are determined to make a real difference to families, 
communities and people affected by substance use in Bolton, Salford and Trafford. 
 
As Lead Provider, Greater Manchester West Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust coordinates all 
services delivered by the Achieve partnership. The cluster-wide recovery services offer support, 
treatment and advice to adults and young people to enable them to improve the quality of their lives. 
 
The Achieve partnership will see anyone who feels they have issues with any substance be that 
illicit, over the counter medications and new/novel psychoactive substances (NPS).  The partners 
are Early Break, Great Places Housing, THOMAS Recovery Housing, The Big Life Group, Intuitive 
Thinking Skills, Breaking free online, Salford CVS, Salford Royal Foundation Trust (SRFT).  SRFT 
hosts a nationally renowned Alcohol assertive Outreach Team 
 

Page 105



 

    

    
    
     

The services provided by the partnership include: 
 

 Clinical help to support the physical aspects of addiction such as opiate substitute 
medication 

 Access to inpatient and community detoxification 

 Health promotion and health screening, e.g. smoking cessation, dental care, physical health 
assessment 

 Holistic recovery service, involving families and carers 

 Advice and support with education, training and employment opportunities 

 Support with development of physical and virtual recovery networks and links to mutual aid 
organisations 

2.2 The budget 
The total contract value is £8,679,877, with Salford contributing £3,626,632.  Drug and alcohol 

services in Salford have seen a reduction on funding of £500k in the last five years. 
 
2.3 Key Performance Indicators 

The Key Performance Indicators are currently being reviewed and they include Public Health 
Outcome measures on recovery and completion of treatment. 

2.4 Contract timelines 

The current contract is due to expire on 14 January 2023.  It is proposed that we will seek an 
extension to this contract (term to be agreed). 
 
2.5 Proposed workplan for 2022/23  

 
The new 10 year national drug strategy was announced in December and will form the basis of the 
work plan for the next few years.  An operational group will be needed to ensure delivery of the 
strategy.  Additional funding is expected for at least the next 3 years to enhance service provision.  
The focus will be to reduce drug related deaths and drug related crime, break drug supply chains, 
rebuild drug treatment and recovery services for both adults and young people and reduce the 
demand for recreational drugs.  We will need to work closely with a wide range of partners and 
colleagues across Salford and GM. 
 
Salford has recently secured additional funding via OHID to help those people in Salford who are 
rough sleeping or at risk of rough sleeping to gain access and engage with drug and alcohol 
treatment services.  We are in the process of mobilising the Rough Sleeper Drug and Alcohol team 
working with Achieve, Local Authority Rough Sleeper teams and mental health service providers. 
Stringent reporting mechanisms will be in place through OHID national team. 
 
Papers to seek an extension to the current contract will be required to be taken through the 
governance process. It is possible due to the, soon to be introduced, Provider Selection Regime that 
a full tender process will not need to be undertaken.  
 
  

Page 106



 

    

    
    
     

3.  Integrated sexual health services 
 
The SRHS provided by Bolton NHS Foundation Trust are jointly commissioned by Salford and 
Bolton. Salford is the lead commissioner.  
 
3.1 The service 

 
Salford City Council commissions the SRHS to provide clinical services, information, advice and 
support on sexual health matters including sexually transmitted infections (STIs), contraception, 
relationships and unplanned pregnancy for adults and young people over 13.  
 
This includes: 

a. comprehensive open-access SRHS providing contraceptive services including prescribing 
costs and payments to GPs for Long-Acting Reversible Contraception (LARC). 

b. sexually transmitted infections (STI) testing and treatment, chlamydia screening and HIV 
testing through the integrated SRHS and in the community or through self-testing  

c. through the sexual health contracts and through wider work in Integrated Youth Services, 
Vulnerable Young People’s Nursing, teenage pregnancy services and others, Salford C ity 
Council also Commissions BFT to provide mandated specialist services, including young 
people’s sexual health, outreach, HIV prevention and support, psycho-sexual counselling, 
sexual health promotion, education and engagement in schools, colleges and other 
vulnerable or young people’s settings.  

d. Pharmacies Emergency Hormonal Contraception provision. 
e. Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis (PrEP) provision. The preventative medication, Local Authorities 

are funded to provide for those residents at a high risk of getting of HIV. 
 
3.2 The budget  
 
Salford’s budget for SRHS is £1,794,437 per annum, Bolton Metropolitan Borough Council 

contribute £1,430,391 per annum, the total budget is £3,224,828.  
In 2016-2017 the SRHS budget was reduced by £500,000. 
 
3.3 Key Performance Indicators 

 
The outcomes that Bolton NHS Foundation Trust is commissioned to deliver are: 

 Detection and treatment of STIs and HIV and promotion of sexual health and STI prevention, 
including chlamydia screening in young people. Timely detection and treatment is key to 
reduce spread and potential outbreaks. 

 Reduce late diagnosis of HIV and encourage routine testing. 

 Reduce unintended conceptions (adults and young people) through prescribing and 
promotion of contraception. 

 Outreach to sex-on-premises venues.  
 Educational outreach, group and 1:1 support in young people’s settings and professional 

training provision. 

 Tier 3 ‘hub’ located at Goodman Centre/Lanceburn Health Centre. 
 
3.4 Contract timelines 

Currently contracted to 31st March 2023.  
 
 

Page 107



 

    

    
    
     

3.5 Proposed workplan for 2022/23  

 
An options paper has been prepared to inform decision making about going out to retender the 
Sexual Health Services for 1st April 2023 and/or extending the contract with the existing provider for 
1 year. The Key Performance Indicators and outcomes will remain very similar, with a few additional 
requirements if a 1 year extension were to be agreed.  
 
The recently completed Sexual Health Needs Assessment will inform this process as will a small 
commissioning strategy task and finish group, to agree on the model for the future service. It is 
possible due to the, soon to be introduced, Provider Selection Regime that a full tender process will 
not need to be undertaken.  
 
 

4.  Sexual health Local Enhanced Services  
 
4.1  Two primary care sexual health services are delivered under the LES. They are: 

 
 GP Long Acting Reversible Contraception (LARC) provision, this includes the provision, fitting 

and removal of coils and implants.  
 
 Pharmacies Emergency Hormonal Contraception provision. This includes providing medication 

to prevent pregnancy after a contraceptive method failure, such as missed oral contraception, a 
split condom or where no contraceptive method has been used.  

 
4.2 The budget  

 
The total budget for Sexual Health LES provision is £130,000.  
 
4.3 Contract timelines  

 
The contracts are issued annually for 1st April start.  
 
4.4 Key Performance Indicators  
 
The LES contributes to the public health outcomes: 

 Reducing the number and rate of unintended conceptions  

 Reducing the number and rate of abortions  

 Reducing the number and rate of under-18 conceptions.   
  

GP LARC contract to contribute to: 

 

 Increasing the uptake of long-acting, reversible methods of contraception  
 

 Improving knowledge and understanding of regular methods of contraception including long-
acting reversible methods through the provision of information, advice and guidance to 
patients. 

 

 Improving knowledge and understanding of the risks associated with unprotected sex 
through the provision of information, advice and guidance to patients. 

 

Page 108



 

    

    
    
     

 Increasing the uptake of regular methods of contraception including long-acting reversible 
methods through provision and if complex case referral to the integrated sexual health 
service. 

 

 Increasing the uptake of sexual health screening through referral to the integrated sexual 
health service.   

 
 
Pharmacy provision of EHC to improve access to and patients’ knowledge of:  

 

 Emergency contraception  

 Benefits of using a regular method of contraception 

 Importance of condoms 
 Uptake of regular methods of contraception (including long-acting reversible methods)  

 Improving the uptake of screening for chlamydia and other sexually transmitted infections. 
 
 
4.5 Proposed workplan for 2022/23  

 
The specifications have recently been updated for 1st April 2022 - 31st March 23.  
The GP LARC contract is currently attached to the Salford Standard contracting process, this will 
change in future when CCGs are superseded by the ICS.  
 
There is support across GM Boroughs to develop a GM contract for sexual health LES in the future. 
Salford would be open to exploring this while ensuring the payments for service provision were 
realistic.  
 
There may be other primary care outcomes explored at GM level too. The Salford Standard also 
includes two other public health outcomes for risk of cardiovascular disease and cervical and bowel 
cancer screening that will be reinstated in 2022/23. 
 
 
 

5.  Physical activity and Weight management  
 
5.1 Enhanced Postural Stability – Salford Community Leisure 

 
This service is for older people at risk of falls and consists of a 24 week exercise rehabilitation course 
delivered by fully qualified level 4 Postural Stability instructors. The aims of this class are to improve 
stability during standing, walking and other functional movements. The programme develops balance, 
strengthens the muscles around the hips, knees and ankles and increases functional flexibility. The 
programme has been shown to reduce hospital admittance and improve daily living. In addition to this, 
there is ‘Step Up’, a maintenance session following on from the Postural Stability classes. This weekly 
class focuses on maintaining the strength, balance and flexibility developed during  the Postural 
Stability programme. Step Up also tests clients with a challenging and progressive exercise 
programme, which will help with everyday living by maintaining good balance, as well as building 
strength and flexibility. Both sessions offer the appropriate exercises for the age group and 
refreshments afterwards. The service is via referral from a health or social care professional or by 
self-referral. Transport is provided to help patients get to and from the classes if required. 
The budget: £181,600 

Page 109



 

    

    
    
     

5.2 Active Lifestyles For Adults (Long Term Conditions) – Salford Community Leisure 

 
A dedicated multidisciplinary team of professionals providing a range of physical activity 
programmes for those who have been diagnosed with long-term health conditions (LTCs). The core 
service offer is a minimum of twelve weeks of supported activities, with a follow on offer consisting 
of a minimum of three months. The programme links into the wider SCL offers to maintain activity. 
The budget: £150,000 

 
5.3 Tier Two Weight Management – Salford Community Leisure 

 
This is a 12 week programme aimed at those with a BMI between 30 – 34.9 and provides access to 
bespoke nutritional and exercise advice, behaviour change support and further goal setting as 
required with highly qualified staff. A 12 week physical activity pass for gym, swim and classes at 
Salford Community Leisure centres is also available for those that wish to become more physically 
active whilst on the programme to aid weight loss and lead a healthier lifestyle. 
The budget: £60,000 
 
5.4 Contract timelines 

Currently contracted to 31st March 2023.  
 
5.5 Key Performance Indicators 
 

The commissioned SCL services went to a predominantly remote or digital service offer throughout 
the last couple of years and are now back to delivering a mostly face to face service. The provider 
reports that the service delivery model is getting back to normal following a period of very much 
altered provision since March 2020. Numbers accessing the service face to face are improving as 
confidence grows amongst the target clientele, some of whom, due to pre-existing conditions, are 
particularly vulnerable to the worst effects of COVID. A period of stability is necessary following the 
last two years.  
 

In 2021/22 all England LAs were awarded funds to enhance their local tier two weight management 
offer, meaning SCL were able to increase the number of clients able to access their service. In the 
short term, this extra capacity is also being used to test some new ways of working to enable access 
to the service for more people from underserved communities. 
 
5.6 Proposed workplan for 2022/23  

 
As part of the wider strategic SCC led Salford Community Leisure review, the contents of the 
service specification are to be reviewed to ensure the service is best fit for purpose and efficient/as 
effective as possible for service users moving forward in to 2023/24, with any necessary, agreed 
quality improvement measures implemented as necessary. This is of paramount importance due to 
our level of overweight/obese adults increasing in Salford during the pandemic. Although this is 
broadly in line with other LA areas, as a Public Health Team, we are committed to arresting and in 
time, reversing this trend.  The key to this will be a whole system approach, with a focus on 
inequalities. This review will ensure that the way the SCL commissioned services maximises the 
contribution to the aims of the Locality Plan and contributes to the development of the all-age 
obesity strategy, which will start to be worked on in 2022/23.  
 
 
 

Page 110



 

    

    
    
     

6.  Healthy Ageing  
 
6.1 The Age Friendly Salford Alliance brings together partners from across sectors to ensure a 

system wide partnership approach and connectivity. Whilst originally commissioned as 2 separate 
contracts, namely Community Assets and Tech & Tea, over the past few years the collaboration has 
grown between the delivery partners and they have come together operationally to create the publicly 
identifiable brand of ‘Age Friendly Salford’, whilst meeting the outcomes of the Community Assets and 
Tech and Tea contracts respectively. 
 
The COVID-19 pandemic had a significant impact on how these services are delivered. The service 
delivery partners (Inspiring Communities Together, Age UK Salford and Salford CVS) have 
transitioned their model and maintained a high standard of engagement and support to older people 
throughout the pandemic. Where possible face to face delivery has been restored, going forward a 
mixed model of delivery will be continued with services available online and a telephone support 
service too – as older people have reported this mixed approach best suits their needs. 
 
 
6.2 Key Performance Indicators 

 
Participation and engagement with the services are monitored. 
The older person’s network continues to meet and give older people a voice to drive service change 
and improvements, influencing service delivery. 
 
6.3 The budget: £340,000 
 
6.4 Contract timeline  

 
Following the recent approval through Procurement Board of a 6 month extension, to allow for an 
open tender process, both Community Assets and Tech & Tea have a contract end date of 30th 
September 2022. 
 
6.5 Proposed workplan for 2022/23  

 
As the current contractual agreements expire at the end of September 2022, an Age Well service 
review has been undertaken, in partnership with the Integrated Commissioning team. The review put 
5 contracts in scope, 2 are the Public Health commissioned services outlined in this paper and the 
other 3 integrated commissioning services. As a result of the review, going forward these 5 contracts 
will come to an end on 30th September in their current form, and an Age Well tender with 2 lots is 
currently being advertised to the open market. 
 
The findings of the review have been used to reshape the offer for the older population in Salford. The 
Age Well service will be firmly embedded in the communities and neighbourhoods of Salford; around 
the places where older people live their lives. The service will be democratic and cooperative, enabling 
productive stakeholder involvement in both delivery and operation. It will provide additionality to those 
key system structures in neighbourhoods including primary care, social care, health improvement, 
community physical and mental health and the VCSE sector.  It will have a strong focus on addressing 
inequalities, driving quality and innovation. 
 
 
 

Page 111



 

    

    
    
     

The tender has been separated into two lots: 
Lot 1. Population health provision for older adults in Salford  
Lot 2. Prevention and Early Intervention for older adults in Salford 

 
The providers of the 2 contracts will work collaboratively to allow residents to move between the 
different service offers depending upon their needs and circumstances at that time. The service model 
has been informed by Age Friendly Salford 2019, which was co-designed with older people as well 
as the themes outlined in the World Health Organisation (WHO) Age Friendly Cities guide, both of 
which align to Salford’s Great Eight priorities. 
 
Once bids have been submitted, they will be evaluated by a multi-disciplinary panel, which will include 
an older person representative. The contact award will be made in the spring to allow time for this to 
be taken through appropriate governance for approval and to allow for any TUPE implications, prior 
to a start date of 1st October 2022. The contract will be awarded for a duration of five years. 
 

7. In view public health services 
 
7.1 As well as the commissioned services reported above, the role of the Director of Public Health 
and the core Public Health team is to champion health and wellbeing, lead and influence work 
across partners to improve and protect health, to set priorities and monitor progress towards 
reducing inequalities. This means that public health activity is undertaken by all teams of the council 
across children, adults and integrated commissioning with the CCG and through all the partnerships 
in the city. 

 

Page 112



 

    

    
    
     

8. Health Protection (in view) 
 
8.1 The Health Protection team had to put usual business on hold to protect health during the 

COVID pandemic. The team were reinforced with additional staffing to deliver the public health 
protection duty during COVID. 
 
The Health Care Associated Infection (HCAI) root cause analysis review panel continued to meet 
during the pandemic to review Clostridium difficle cases, mainly those carried out by the acute trust. 
Findings are discussed and lessons learnt are shared with clinicians involved to help improve 
knowledge and care.   
 
Audits in care homes and GP practices have recommenced in autumn 2021. The aim is to support 
settings to have high standards of infection, prevention and control.  Training has been offered 
throughout the pandemic and will continue. The team aims to build on and continue to identify 
learning needs through audit during 2022.  
 
8.2 Key Performance Indicators:  

Clostridium difficile: C. diff cases for Salford were over trajectory by the end of December 21 with 61 
cases recorded for Salford CCG.  GP had been carrying out some of the RCAs, the team 
wanted  GPs to complete their own RCAs with a view of  improving learning.  Other areas across 
GM ask GPs to complete their own RCAs.  Participation has been low so from October 2021 the 
health protection team went back to completing RCAs on all cases.   
 
MRSA Bacteraemia: There has been 1 case in February 22. Root cause analysis was completed by 
SRFT and the Health Protection Team. 
 
Gram negative infection: Cases and data were monitored by the team during the pandemic, RCAs 
could not be completed fully. The gram-negative working group was put on hold at the start of the 
pandemic. The group will reconvene in April 2022.  The group will plan interventions working with 
partners to support the reduction in cases.  UTI prevention tool kits are being developed. There will 
be a pack for social care and a pack to support primary care. Packs will include useful tools and 
resources for staff and patients.  UTIs are the most common cause of an e.coli bacteraemia (most 
common gram-negative infection).  
 
Scheduled immunisations and cancer screening uptake have all seen a decline during the 
pandemic.  There have been two Salford system wide groups set up, an immunisation and screening 
operational groups.  The groups met for the first time in January 2022 to scrutinise data and develop 
work programmes to increase uptake. The members of the group are from key services across the 
relevant service providers and commissioners including public health who chair the group.  
 
8.3 Spotlight on Oral Health 
 
The oral health transformation programme is made up of 3 separate programmes running 

alongside each other.  The evidence is clear that the best way to reduce dental decay in children is 
to increase fluoride application by brushing with a suitable fluoride toothpaste twice daily.  
 
8.3.1 Brushing in early years and reception uptake -    

Total of 209/228 (92%) of early year settings taking part 
Total of LEA nurseries; 63/69 (91.3%)  
Total of 62/69 (90%) of reception year settings classes taking part 

Page 113



 

    

    
    
     

 
8.3.2 Dental practices are asked to sign up to ‘Baby Teeth do Matter’.  The aim is to reduce oral 

health inequalities and to improve oral health in children age five years and under. 
14 dental practices signed up to ‘Baby teeth do matter’ 
 

 Provide evidence based interventions at individual level to all children aged 5 and under with 
a focus on the high risk groups 

 Increase the provision of preventative advice and interventions as per the evidence based 
Delivering Better Oral Health  

 Increase the proportion of children under the age of five-years accessing dental care 
 
8.3.3 Health Visitors have received oral care training by dental professional so they can deliver 

advice at regular interval during their scheduled visits.  They are also provided with dental care 
packs to give out to parents. Packs include prevention advice, toothbrush and fluoride toothpaste. 
More work is needed with Health visitor teams/leads to understand why low number of packs are 
given out (only a third of children eligible). This may be a data recording issue.  
 
 
8.3.4 Oral Health in Care Homes 

 
Oral care must be part of daily care supporting res ident’s physical and mental health. The evidence 
is clear that all too often oral health of dependents living in the care setting is ignored as its too 
challenging for staff or they don’t feel confident enough to provide oral care, especially for those 
residents that may have challenging behaviour.  Good oral care helps keep people free from pain, 
it’s especially important for those who have communication difficulties, who may find it difficult to 
alert others to where it hurts. For those with chronic conditions, good oral care can help make sure 
they can take the medicines they need to prolong health. Good oral health can also reduce the risk 
of malnutrition and dehydration, which is thought to affect around 1.3 million older people.  It can 
also reduce the risk of acquiring aspiration pneumonia, particularly in residential settings. 
 
Public Health secured12 month funding via CCG Innovation Team to deliver an oral health 
programme in care homes for older people to support staff to deliver better oral care. The 
programme is in its final months and it has already shown to be very successful producing positive 
outcomes.  The funding was used to employ qualified dental staff to provide training in care homes 
and the rest of the funding was to purchase suitable dental aid to support good mouth care.  The 
aim at the end of the programme is that all care home staff have high levels of staff trained so they 
can continue the programme alone using the train the trainer model.  
 
 
8.3.5 Proposed workplan for 2022/23  

 
The public health oral health lead will continue to offer regular training for care home champions 
throughout the year going forward. A full report for the programme will be available by the end of 
May 2022.  
 
The GM Oral Health Transformation Team are currently evaluating the 3 year programme based on 
the 5-year-old dental epidemiological survey to assess if there has been a reduction in dental 
decay.  This funding for the GM programme may not be continued beyond April 2022.  Local funding 
is unlikely to be found to enable the programme to continue.  
 

Page 114



 

    

    
    
     

9. Health Improvement (in view) 
 
9.1 The Health Improvement Service have reestablished the comprehensive programme of face to 

face, group and virtual provision across all topic areas.  3,632 clients have been supported through 
case managed, structured programmes with Health Improvement so far this year (as of Feb 2022): 
 

 Adult Weight Management 

Additional funding has been received from Public Health England to provide an enhanced 
weight management service.  So far this year 217 clients have completed the new 
programme, with 87% significantly reducing their BMI.  Programmes are available in 12 
locations across the city, and are available every day of the week including Saturdays and 
Sundays. 
 

 Stop Smoking Services 

The service has seen a significant increase in the number of clients accessing stop smoking 
support, with over 1,300 people supported so far this year and 421 quits.  This is primarily 
due to the improved referral pathways with SRFT following the implementation of the CURE 
and the Lung Health Check programme.  Although these patients can often present with 
more complex needs, the service is still maintaining the target quit rate of 50%. 
 

 Family weight Management 

The service provides a flexible family weight management programme, which can be 
accessed virtually, and face to face in a one to one or group setting.  This service is now 
available for online booking.  So far this year, 50 children who are above a healthy weight, 
have been supported.  A new model has been piloted for older children, partnering with 
Eccles Boxing Club. 
 

 Mental Wellbeing 

A wide range of social support and emotional wellbeing activities and groups has been 
reestablished across communities including Long Covid Support, online befriending groups, 
arts and crafts activities, Keeping Well, Sleep Well and Walk and Talk groups. 

 
9.3 Emergency Response and Covid Recovery 

 
The Health Improvement service has acted as a key delivery agent in Salford’s management of the 
pandemic.  These are some of the key outputs from April 2021 to end Jan 2022: 
 

 Facilitated over 30 pop up vaccination clinics resulting in the delivery of 1,976 vaccinations 

 Delivered over 300 outreach and engagement sessions resulting in over 30,000 individual 

conversations with the public to encourage vaccine uptake 

 Delivered 1,400 Covid Risk Health Checks to vulnerable residents and frontline workers, 538 

have been delivered since April 21.  Over 300 of these clients were found to have 

significantly raised blood pressure, and over 400 had a BMI >30. 

 
9.4 Pathways with Primary and Integrated care 

 
The service is also working as part of the Homefirst Rapid Discharge Hub at SRFT to support 
patients upon discharge through community led support.  In addition to case work, one outcome 

Page 115



 

    

    
    
     

from this has been the establishment of a virtual support group to reduce isolation using IT 
equipment gifted from the City Council to newly discharged vulnerable patients.  
 
The service is part of the Multi Disciplinary Team that has been established to support patients with 
Long Covid.  In addition to case work, a number of We Recover support groups have been 
established as part of this offer. The service continues to work closely with the Swinton PCN to 
provide lifestyle related support to their patients using a social prescribing model.  This support is 
now available to patients 7 days per week.  
 
9.5 Proposed workplan for 2022/23  

 
The service has updated and refreshed all the web and social media pages to improve engagement 
with the public.  In addition, service users can now directly book into services and groups online 
using a the Microsoft Booking system. 
 
A number of new services have been developed to enhance our offer, these include the Sustainable 
Lifestyles programme to encourage residents to introduce meat free days to their diet, We Recover 
long covid support group and the Sleep Well programme. 
 
 

10. Useful Links 
 

a) PH Annual Report 2020/21: 
https://www.partnersinsalford.org/media/seyo55lm/finalpublichealthannualreport2021.pdf 
 

b) JSNA mental health: https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/397466/mhna-2020-2021.pdf  
(large file, >10MB!) 
 

c) Ward profiles https://www.salford.gov.uk/people-communities-and-local-information/my-local-
community/ward-profiles/ 
 

d) For information on 0-19 health and wellbeing: This is the latest Child Health Profile for 
Salford published by OHID: https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/child-health-
profiles/data#page/1/gid/1938133228/pat/6/ati/302/are/E08000006/iid/92196/age/2/sex/4/cat
/-1/ctp/-1/yrr/3/cid/4/tbm/1 
 

  

11. Recommendations 
 
11.1 The Adults Commissioning Committee are asked to: 
 

 Note the 2021/22 report for commissioned public health services in the context of living 
with and recovering from COVID. 

 Note the proposed workplans for services in 2022/23 
 

11.2  There are other strategic plans to which we contribute that are not reflected in this paper 
e.g. for children and other prevention priorities in the Locality Plan 

 
Name: Dr Muna Abdel Aziz 
Job Title: Director of Public Health 

Page 116

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.partnersinsalford.org%2Fmedia%2Fseyo55lm%2Ffinalpublichealthannualreport2021.pdf&data=04%7C01%7Cjenni.brennen%40salford.gov.uk%7Cd4a792ec9d8c42e2eadb08d9f238c853%7C68c00060d80e40a5b83f3b8a5bc570b5%7C0%7C0%7C637807147950384066%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=33eq7xdimCrwLjgFhrx9iQzyDm%2F9STBbrSDCU54dTlU%3D&reserved=0
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/397466/mhna-2020-2021.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/people-communities-and-local-information/my-local-community/ward-profiles/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/people-communities-and-local-information/my-local-community/ward-profiles/
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ffingertips.phe.org.uk%2Fprofile%2Fchild-health-profiles%2Fdata%23page%2F1%2Fgid%2F1938133228%2Fpat%2F6%2Fati%2F302%2Fare%2FE08000006%2Fiid%2F92196%2Fage%2F2%2Fsex%2F4%2Fcat%2F-1%2Fctp%2F-1%2Fyrr%2F3%2Fcid%2F4%2Ftbm%2F1&data=04%7C01%7Cjenni.brennen%40salford.gov.uk%7Cd4a792ec9d8c42e2eadb08d9f238c853%7C68c00060d80e40a5b83f3b8a5bc570b5%7C0%7C0%7C637807147950384066%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=RR3pf%2F6O%2FXJ7uQJCGcm5kZ4syYijuD%2F6cUZKSRJcWj8%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ffingertips.phe.org.uk%2Fprofile%2Fchild-health-profiles%2Fdata%23page%2F1%2Fgid%2F1938133228%2Fpat%2F6%2Fati%2F302%2Fare%2FE08000006%2Fiid%2F92196%2Fage%2F2%2Fsex%2F4%2Fcat%2F-1%2Fctp%2F-1%2Fyrr%2F3%2Fcid%2F4%2Ftbm%2F1&data=04%7C01%7Cjenni.brennen%40salford.gov.uk%7Cd4a792ec9d8c42e2eadb08d9f238c853%7C68c00060d80e40a5b83f3b8a5bc570b5%7C0%7C0%7C637807147950384066%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=RR3pf%2F6O%2FXJ7uQJCGcm5kZ4syYijuD%2F6cUZKSRJcWj8%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ffingertips.phe.org.uk%2Fprofile%2Fchild-health-profiles%2Fdata%23page%2F1%2Fgid%2F1938133228%2Fpat%2F6%2Fati%2F302%2Fare%2FE08000006%2Fiid%2F92196%2Fage%2F2%2Fsex%2F4%2Fcat%2F-1%2Fctp%2F-1%2Fyrr%2F3%2Fcid%2F4%2Ftbm%2F1&data=04%7C01%7Cjenni.brennen%40salford.gov.uk%7Cd4a792ec9d8c42e2eadb08d9f238c853%7C68c00060d80e40a5b83f3b8a5bc570b5%7C0%7C0%7C637807147950384066%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=RR3pf%2F6O%2FXJ7uQJCGcm5kZ4syYijuD%2F6cUZKSRJcWj8%3D&reserved=0


 

   
 

 

1 
 

Adult Commissioning Committee 

9th March 2022 
AGENDA ITEM NO 9: Adult Commissioning Report 
 
Item for: Assurance/Information  
 

Report of: Karen Proctor/Charlotte Ramsden 

Date of Paper: 1st March 2022 

In case of query, please contact: Judd Skelton Judd.Skelton@salford.gov.uk  

Harry Golby harry.golby@nhs.net 
 

Strategic Priorities:  
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research  

Adult Services  

Children’s and Maternity Services  
All Age Mental Health  

Primary Care  
Enabling Transformation  

Mayoral Priorities: 
(Please tick as appropriate) 

Tackling poverty and inequality  
Reducing Health Inequalities  

Skills and Education (A Learning City)  
Affordable Housing  

Transport and Digital Connectivity  
Tackling the Climate Change Emergency  

Vibrant Place and Spaces  
Creating an Economy for All  

Purpose of Paper:                                    

This paper provides an overview of a number of key or emerging areas of 
commissioning and provision relating to adult health and care to ensure Adult 

Commissioning Committee are kept abreast of developments and progress. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 117

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Judd.Skelton@salford.gov.uk
mailto:harry.golby@nhs.net
https://www.salford.gov.uk/cmpriorities


 

   
 

 

2 
 

Further information 

How will this benefit the health and wellbeing of 
Salford residents, or the CCG or City Council? 

 
 
 

How does this paper address health inequalities 
and promote inclusion? 

 

What risks may arise as a result of this paper 
and how will they be mitigated? 

 

Does this address any existing high risks facing 
the organisation and how does it reduce them? 

 

Are there any possible conflicts of interest 
associated with this paper? 

 

Will any current services or roles be affected by 
issues within this paper and what are they? 

 

Note: Where appropriate, please ensure detail is provided. 

Document Development 

Has there been Public Engagement?  

Has there been Clinical Engagement?  

Has the impact on Salford socially, economically 
and environmentally been considered? 

 

Has there been an analysis of any impacts on 
equality?  

Has legal advice been obtained?  

Has this been to any groups or committees for 
engagement, comments, or approval?   

Note: Where relevant, please provide detail and ensure that it is clear how and when particular stakeholders were 
involved in this work, that there is clarity of what the key message/decision was, and whether amendments were 
requested about any part of the work.

Page 118



 

3 
 

Adult Commissioning Report 
 

1.  Executive Summary 

   
 
This report provides an overview of a number of key or emerging areas of commissioning and 
provision relating to adult health and care to ensure Adult Commissioning Committee are kept 
abreast of developments. 
 
Items in this month’s report include: 

 Effective Use of Resources Service 

 Mental Health Community Rehab 

 Mental Health Investment Standard Developments    
 

 

2.  Effective Use of Resources 
 
The NHS is under a statutory duty ‘to promote comprehensive healthcare within the resources 
available’. It is not an absolute obligation to provide every treatment that a patient, or group of patients, 
may demand. The NHS is obliged to consider the resources available to it and the competing demands 
on those resources. The precise allocation of resources and the process for prioritising the allocation 
of those resources is a matter of judgement.  
 
In April 2013 the Greater Manchester (GM) Effective Use of Resources (EUR) service was established 
to support the delivery of this statutory duty, commissioned by all 10 GM CCGs, and a GM EUR 
Operational policy has been implemented to facilitate and support making these judgements at a 
named patient level by identifying individuals who should receive care on the NHS where their request 
is an exception to current commissioning arrangements. 
 
EUR policy development and review are overseen by the GM EUR Steering Group (GM EUR SG) on 
behalf of the GM CCGs; this is a clinically led group with stakeholder engagement and includes clinical 
representation from each CCG.  
 
In February 2020, Adult Commissioning Committee supported the recommendation that Salford’s 
decisions for approval of Effective Use of Resources policies would be delegated to the CCG’s 
Director of Commissioning (or jointly by the Director of Commissioning and Director of Finance where 
the financial impact is expected to be above £20k). Once approved, the GM EUR treatment policies 
are implemented with immediate effect.  
 
The following new and revised Greater Manchester (GM) Effective Use of Resources (EUR) Policies 
were approved for implementation by the Directors of Commissioning (DoCs) in December; none of 
the new or revised policies are expected to have a financial impact of more than £20k. 
 
New policy 

 
GM055 Spinal Injections and related therapies for back pain Policy – v1.0 
 
Revised policies  

 
Salford Assisted Conception Policy – v3.1 

Page 119

https://gmeurnhs.co.uk/Docs/GM%20Policies/GM%20Spinal%20Injections%20Policy.pdf
https://gmeurnhs.co.uk/Docs/CCG%20Salford/Salford%20Assisted%20Conception%20Policy.pdf


 

4 
 

 
GM Facet Joint Injections (All levels) Policy – v4.0 
 
GM034 Knee Arthroscopy Policy v4.0 
 
GM046 Low Back Pain Policy – v2.1 (please note policy has been renamed ‘Assessment and 
management of low back pain in over 16s’.) 

 
Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to note the new and revised EUR policies that have been 
approved for implementation. 
 

3. Mental Health Community Rehab 
 
The Five Year Forward View and the NHS Long Term Plan set out the ambition to reduce and 
eliminate out of area placements (OAPs) as quickly as possible for people who have lengthy stays 
in the mental health system. It also outlined that more ‘step-down’ support should be provided from 
inpatient settings to support people to move towards independence in the community. 
 
Rehabilitation wards support people with complex mental health needs to progress towards greater 
independence through increased support with daily living skills, continued mental health support 
provided by psychologists, psychiatrists, nurses. OTs and Social Workers.  Most people accessing 
rehab support moved from acute inpatient mental health provision or secure mental health provision. 
Due to the nature of rehab support (i.e., that it takes place over several years), any out of area 
rehab placements are likely to be long term in duration, in comparison to shorter term acute 
inpatient OAPs. This exacerbates the disconnection from community, home, family, friends and 
support networks that someone in a long term, costly rehab OAP may experience.  
 
Salford’s rehab provision is currently delivered by two in-patient services:  
 

 Copeland Ward on the Meadowbrook Unit site at Salford Royal Hospital – this site includes 
15 beds (11 male, 3 female and 1 ‘flip’ bed) and is a high dependency service. The aim of the 
service is to promote autonomy, recovery and social inclusion for all service users through 
support offered by a multi-disciplinary team (MDT), connected into wider support avenues 
such as housing provision.  

 Pendlebury House – an independent hospital in Swinton, provided by Turning Point. The 
service has a total of 10 beds (3 female, 7 male). The service provides a support offer via an 
MDT approach with connections to social and community support.  

 
Service and Finance Group have already approved a recurrent MHIS allocation of £476k to support 
the rehab pathway and this was also approved at Adult Commissioning Committee in November 
2020 
 
Based on learning from best practice examples, GMMH have proposed a rehab model operating on 
a ‘hub and spoke’ approach across the GMMH footprint. The GM hub (funded by £1.8m GM 
Community Transformation funding over 3 years) will house the bed management function and the 
core community team (including senior leads, psychology and clinicians).  
 
The ‘spoke’ element of the model will be based in individual localities, providing care co-ordinators 
and recovery co-ordinators working with people in their own tenancies. The work of this team may 
include: 

Page 120

https://gmeurnhs.co.uk/Docs/GM%20Policies/GM%20Facet%20Joint%20Injections%20Policy.pdf
https://gmeurnhs.co.uk/Docs/GM%20Policies/GM%20Knee%20Arthroscopy%20Policy.pdf
https://gmeurnhs.co.uk/Docs/GM%20Policies/GM%20Low%20Back%20Pain%20Policy.pdf


 

5 
 

 

 Working with people requiring rehab to progress through the pathway toward the least 
restrictive support  

 Repatriation of people currently in out of area placements (OAPs) back to Salford provision, 
improving clinical and financial outcomes  

 Reducing Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOCs) - People who are ready for discharge, but 
have no identified discharge destination will be supported to navigate the pathway, ensuring 
that they get the right support to meet their needs.  

 
The financial ask for the Salford element of the model is £475,854.00. This is aligned to the rehab 
MHIS allocation previously approved by Adult Commissioning Committee.  
 
Included in this ask, in addition to the community rehab team, are additional investments to support 
the rehab and supported accommodation pathway effectiveness and flow. These include:  
 

 Increased consultant psychiatry input to Pendlebury House to meet demand 

 Development of a floating budget to invest in development approaches within the supported 
accommodation/ housing support / rehab pathway, supporting development until such time 
as the service becomes self-sustaining (e.g. via the release of cashable savings which can 
then be reinvested to sustain the model recurrently). At the point of sustainability, the 
‘floating budget’ can then be extracted to utilise in the next pathway development. A real-
time example of this approach is provided: 

o Gore Avenue – Eight bed supported accommodation service extended to support 
people with higher levels of complexity and need via 24/7, double staffed support. 
Over the past 9 months, the pilot approach has supported people to remain in 
Salford, moving towards increased independence, and generated significant savings 
to both Adult Social Care and CCG budgets. Working closely with Gore Avenue, the 
ForHousing Intensive Housing Support offer is working with people exiting the 
Supported Accommodation pathway to help identify appropriate accommodation and 
provide support to maintain their tenancy. Short term funding has been identified to 
provide an extension to the ForHousing offer, with savings from the Gore Avenue 
model anticipated to support the two provisions in the longer term.  

 Copeland Ward - developments are in place to transform Copeland Ward to a male only 
provision. Agreements between Salford CCG and Bolton CCG in February 2021 envisage a 
shared provision between the two localities, with Copeland Ward in Salford accepting males 
and Honeysuckle Lodge in Bolton accepting females. This way of working will reduce the risk 
of people being placed out of area to access a gender specific service, in turn reducing cost. 
There is no additional cost associated with this development 

 

4. Mental Health Investment Standard Developments 
 
The Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS) aims to ensure CCGs increase investment in 
mental health services at a higher percentage than their overall rise in allocation from NHS England 
each year. 
 
In order to meet this years MHIS the following additional areas of investment for adults  were 
approved at Service and Finance Group in February.  
 
 
a) IAPT Additional Capacity  - £106,054 

Page 121



 

6 
 

 
The 2019 IAPT business case outlined the investment to meet the 25% prevalence rates. This 
approach was predicated on the information that 65% of referrals entering the pathway would 
be managed within step 2, with the remaining 35% of referrals being ‘stepped up’ to the GMMH 
provided step 3 service. In 2020/21, GMMH supported 40.7% (average) of the pathway 
referrals and year to date suggests that they are currently supporting 39.1% (average) of the 
pathway. 
 
The service has received on average 541 referrals per month (data based upon 10 completed months) 
in the current 2020/21 financial year, this figure represents on average 170 referrals per month, over 
and above the number required to achieve the commissioned level of prevalence. To reduce the 
pressure of the additional demand on the service created by the additional referrals / additional % 
split, GMMH have undertaken the following: 

 

 Proportioned new treatment starts from October 2021 to balance the RTT on Entry to bring the 
service back up to compliance in the new year 

 Recruitment of fixed term, agency CBT (2.00 wte) and Counselling practitioners (0.6 wte) funded 
from a GMMH Non-Recurrent investment 

 Increased monitoring of referrals and waiting list performance by the GMMH Management Team 
 
As a direct result of the additional capacity, the team have been able to ensure new referrals are seen 
for first appointment within 6 weeks to drive improvements within Referral to Treatment time at 6 
weeks.  
 
Via re-badging of an existing vacant 0.25 wte B8c post to a 0.5 wte B7 post and a non 
recurrent MHIS allocation  of £106,054.00 to support the remaining 2wte clinical staffing for a 
further 12 months, the service has enough required capacity to meet demand.   
 
It is yet unknown if the current increase in complexity and referrals may be a short-term impact of the 
pandemic or if the demand will continue for a longer period, becoming the new level of demand 
through the SPA. Continuation of the additional 2.6wte non-recurrent capacity for a 12-month period 
will allow the service to continue to meet current demand, whilst also providing time to monitor demand 
to better understand future requirements.  
 
b) IAPT Waiting List Initiative - £106, 054 
 
Owing to the increased pressure on the Step 3 IAPT service and the time lag between increased 
referrals and the additional non recurrent capacity from GMMH coming into post, there has been the 
development of a waiting list and secondary waits in the service.  
 
Demand presenting at the Step 3 service throughout 2021 has outstripped capacity, this has 
increased the number of waiters, with approximately 50 people per month being added 
incrementally to the waiting list. As a result of the waiting list growth, the service has utilised clinical 
resource with a blended approach by proportioning circa 75% of new referrals with an Initial 
Assessment within 6 weeks. This does result in secondary waits (in the absence of long term, follow 
up capacity), although is temporary solution to ensure maintenance of RTT 6 & 18 Weeks and the 
over delivery of prevalence. 
 
To fully address and reduce the existing waiters and secondary waits in the service, non 
recurrent funding of £106,054 was agreed to support 2 wte practitioners over a 12 month period 

Page 122



 

7 
 

to ensure that the initial appointment and secondary waiting lists would be stabilised and 
reduced (assuming the continuing pattern of high referrals and consistent clinical capacity).  
 
c)  ForHousing supported tenancies - £59,000 

 
ForHousing have been working with GMMH to provide a pilot approach to support people moving 
out of supported accommodation into their own tenancy with intensive housing management 
support. This was funded via the GM winter discharge money, however this is coming to an end. 
This pilot has been particularly key in supporting flow out of the Gore Avenue pilot.  
 
Salford CCG has agreed to support the reallocation of MHIS funds from GMMH to support the pilot 
for a further 6 months.  
 
d) Living Well Engagement - £25,000 

 
The Living Well programme is based on the insights of ethnographic research. In the early part of 
the programme, it was identified that ethnographic research would be the cornerstone of the design 
and co-production process, gathering the views and experiences of people needing mental health 
support to understand how to design and improve the support offer in Salford. Whilst this is 
embedded in the practice of the Living Well multi-disciplinary team, the benefits of ethnographic 
research gathered via an independent party were also recognised.  
 
To this end, Healthwatch Salford were commissioned to provide 0.5wte engagement worker to 
support the ethnographic research as part of the Living Well programme and wider mental health 
system.  
 
As the Living Well programme progresses and given the need to focus on community mental health 
transformation, the need for ethnographic research will be continued and expanded to include 
people experiencing the service as part of the city wide roll out and from other connected services. 
Consequently, the Healtwhatch Salfod engagement post will conute for a further twelve months to 
support the work of the programme and community mental health transformation agenda.  
  

5. Recommendations 
 
Adult Commissioning Committee is asked to note and discuss this overview of a number of key or 
emerging areas of commissioning and provision relating to adult health and care. 
 
Judd Skelton, Assistant Director - Integrated Commissioning 
Harry Golby, Deputy Director of Commissioning 
 

 

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Draft Minutes of the Meeting Held on 12th January 2022
	4 Community Diagnostic Centre - Tom Regan
	04 - Community Diagnostic Hub four month evaluation

	5 CURE Business Case (Post six months' evaluation) - Neil Cudby/Sam Mansfield
	05 - CURE - Appendix 1
	05 - CURE - Appendix 2

	6 Finance Report - Elaine Vermeulen
	7 Urgent & Emergency Care Update - Stephen Tilley
	8 Public Health Commissioning - Muna Abdel-Aziz
	9 Adult Commissioning Report - Neil Cudby/Harry Golby/Judd Skelton

